
 
 
 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 21, 2014 
7:00 PM MEETING 

PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING TRAINING ROOM (401 EAST THIRD STREET) 
 
 

Mission Statement 
 

The City of Newberg serves its citizens, promotes safety, and maintains a healthy community. 
 

Vision Statement 
 

Newberg will cultivate a healthy, safe environment where citizens can work, play and grow in a friendly, 
dynamic and diverse community valuing partnerships and opportunity. 

 
 
I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
II. ROLL CALL 
 
III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
IV. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
V. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

(30 minutes maximum, which may be extended at the Mayor’s discretion, with an opportunity to speak 
for no more than 5 minutes per speaker allowed) 

 
VI. PUBLIC HEARING 
 

1. Consider a motion adopting Order No. 2014-0033 approving findings for a proposed annexation 
and approve that concurrent zone change meet the applicable development code criteria. (Pgs. 3-196)

 (Quasi-Judicial Hearing) 
 
2. Consider a motion adopting Ordinance No. 2014-2768 annexing property located at 108 S. 

Springbrook Road subject to a public vote at the May 20, 2014, general election.  (Pgs. 3-196)
  (Legislative Hearing) 
 
VII. COUNCIL BUSINESS 
 
VIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

1. Executive session pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(m) programs related to the security of 
telecommunications and data transmission systems. 

The Mayor reserves the right to change the order of items to be considered by the Council at their meeting.  No new items will be heard after 11:00 
p.m., unless approved by the Council. 
 
 
City of Newberg: City Council Agenda (January 21, 2014) Page 1 of 2 

 

Page 1

http://www.leg.state.or.us/ors/192.html


The Mayor reserves the right to change the order of items to be considered by the Council at their meeting.  No new items will be heard after 11:00 
p.m., unless approved by the Council. 
 
 
City of Newberg: City Council Agenda (January 21, 2014) Page 2 of 2 

2. Executive session pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(i) relating to the performance review of the city 
manager pro tem/assistant city manager. 

 
IX. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
ACCOMMODATION OF PHYSICAL IMPAIRMENTS: In order to accommodate persons with physical impairments, please notify the City 
Recorder’s Office of any special physical or language accommodations you may need as far in advance of the meeting as possible and no later than 
48 business hours prior to the meeting.  To request these arrangements, please contact the City Recorder at (503) 537-1283. For TTY services please 
dial 711. 
 
Council accepts comments on agenda items during the meeting.  Fill out a form identifying the item you wish to speak on prior to the 
agenda item beginning and turn it into the City Recorder. The exception is land use hearings, which requires a specific public 
hearing process.  The City Council asks written testimony be submitted to the City Recorder before 4:30 p.m. on the preceding 
Wednesday.  Written testimony submitted after that will be brought before the Council on the night of the meeting for consideration 
and a vote to accept or not accept it into the record. 

Page 2

http://www.leg.state.or.us/ors/192.html


City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 1

REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION
DATE ACTION REQUESTED: January 21, 2014 

Order   XX  Ordinance  XX Resolution   Motion   Information ___ 
No. 2014-0033 No. 2014-2768 No. 

SUBJECT:  Annexation of one parcel (approx. 7.2 
acres) located at 108 S. Springbrook Road, with 
concurrent zone change from Yamhill County 
VLDR-1 (Very Low Density Residential) zoning to 
city R-3 (High Density Residential), with a stream 
corridor overlay zone on the eastern part of the site 
and an airport inner horizontal surface overlay. 

Contact Person (Preparer) for this 
Motion: Steve Olson, Associate Planner 
Dept.: Planning and Building 
File No.: ANX-13-001

HEARING TYPE: 
ORDER: �LEGISLATIVE �QUASI-JUDICIAL �NOT APPLICABLE 
ORDINANCE: �LEGISLATIVE �QUASI-JUDICIAL �NOT APPLICABLE 

RECOMMENDATION:

Adopt Order No. 2014-0033 approving the findings that the proposed annexation and concurrent zone 
change meet the applicable City of Newberg Development Code criteria.  

Adopt Ordinance No. 2014-2768 annexing property located at 108 S. Springbrook Road (Yamhill County 
tax lot 3221-900) subject to a public vote, and scheduling this item for the May 20, 2014 general election. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

Request: The applicant, Springbrook Investments LLC, has requested an annexation of approximately 7.2 
acres of property at 108 S. Springbrook Road, and a zone change from Yamhill County VLDR-1 to city R-3. 
The R-3 zone allows a variety of uses, including multifamily apartments. The applicant's concept plan shows 
a multifamily development with 120 units. 

Page 3



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 2

Zoning/comprehensive plan designations: The site has a Newberg Comprehensive Plan designation of HDR 
(high density residential). The applicant has requested R-3 (high density residential) zoning for the site, 
which matches the comprehensive plan designation. The site will also have a stream corridor overlay zone 
on the eastern part of the site, and an airport inner horizontal surface overlay zone on the whole site. 

Stream corridor overlay zone: The stream corridor overlay on the eastern edge of the site has many mature 
trees and forms a deep natural landscape buffer. The stream corridor overlay varies in width from 130 feet to 
200 feet. The property has approximately 5.2 buildable acres of land outside of the stream corridor. 

Utilities: There are existing public water and sanitary sewer lines in the roads adjacent to the site. The 
applicant intends to remove the existing house; if it is not removed then it will need to be connected to city 
water and sanitary sewer within three years. Any utility access from Springbrook Road will need to be 
completed prior to the bypass project reconstruction, otherwise there will be a several year "no cut" 
moratorium on the pavement. 

Roads: The improvement of Springbrook Road and the installation of the traffic signal at 
Fernwood/Springbrook by ODOT mean that most of the required improvements will be in shortly. A left 
turn pocket at Brutscher/Fernwood will be required at time of development. The Fernwood Road frontage 
will need to be improved to city standards at the time of development, which could include additional 
paving, curb, gutter, planter strip, sidewalk, and utility undergrounding. Future access to the site will be 
limited to Fernwood Road. If the site is developed it should include two driveways, and the westerly 
driveway should be right-in/right-out only. Future development on the site will not draw traffic through 
local residential streets in existing nearby neighborhoods. 

Wetland delineation: The Department of State Lands (DSL) has commented that there is a 
wetland/waterway on the property, and that a state permit is required for 50 cubic yards or more of 
removal/fill in wetlands. They noted that the wetland extent may be greater than what is mapped on the 
National Wetland Inventory. A wetland delineation is needed to determine precise wetland boundaries, and 
should be submitted to DSL for review and approval. 

Planning commission recommendation: The planning commission held a public hearing on this request on 
December 12, 2013. They approved Resolution 2013-304, which recommended that the city council approve 
the requested annexation and concurrent zone change, and withdraw the parcel from the Newberg Rural Fire 
Protection District.

Public comment: We received one written public comment from a neighbor east of the site. They were 
concerned that annexing the site and rezoning it to R-3 would remove the green belt their home backs up to, 
harm the environment along the stream, and reduce their property value. They were also concerned that 
apartment development would not provide enough off-street parking, and would increase traffic on adjacent 
roads. Response: 

� The site is currently in the county, and county zoning does not provide a stream corridor overlay 
zone to protect the stream or the trees along its banks. The most effective way to protect the stream 
is to annex the property into the city and apply the city stream corridor overlay zone as shown on the 
attached maps. The overlay zone prohibits new buildings in the stream corridor and generally 
requires it be left in a natural state. It does allow some development to occur, such as the extension 
of a storm water outfall to the stream, as long as the impacts are mitigated with new plantings and 
the stream is protected. 

� The site has had a city comprehensive plan designation of high density residential on it for many 
years. The high density residential designation was in place long before any homes were built in the 

Page 4



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 3

subdivision east of the site. The zone change from county VLDR-1 to city R-3 matches the city's 
HDR comprehensive plan designation and complies with the long term plan for the area.  

� The traffic impact analysis found that the roads in the area will have a good level of service if the 
site is developed with apartments. The improvements ODOT is making to Springbrook Road, 
including a traffic signal at the Springbrook/Fernwood intersection, will further improve the level of 
service of area intersections.

� Multifamily apartments are required to provide a substantial amount of off-street parking, including 
visitor parking. There will be no on-street parking on Springbrook Road or Fernwood Road, so any 
future development on the property may wish to provide more visitor parking than required by code. 
Other properties in the area, such as the manufactured home parks west of the site, have managed to 
exist with a similar situation (no adjacent on-street parking). 

FISCAL IMPACT:

Police services are currently provided to the annexation site by Yamhill County Sheriff’s Office.  Fire 
service is provided by Newberg Rural Fire District.  The proposed annexation will shift police and fire 
services to the city. Neither agency noted an inability to serve the property. New residential development 
will result in additional library patrons. Development of the site would ultimately increase the city tax base, 
which would help fund city services. An increase in population will also increase the city's allocation of 
State revenue-sharing funds, which is part of the city budget, and will help fund these services. The 
developer will pay for the cost of water and sewer connections upon installation, and will pay system 
development charges for their project's impact on the water, sanitary sewer, stormwater and transportation 
systems. The developer will also pay a design review fee to the planning division for review of a 
development proposal, and permit fees to the building and engineering divisions at the time of construction. 
Multifamily development on this site would not increase public maintenance costs much in the future 
because it would create very little additional infrastructure and would not create new public roads for the 
city to maintain. 

The Chehalem Park and Recreation District collects a fee when new residential units are developed 
(currently set at $1475.00 per unit in multifamily developments). This revenue is for the development of 
new parks, so future residential development would help fund future parks in the district.   

The Newberg School District receives state funding on a per pupil basis, so future population increases due 
to development should increase future funding. The school district also collects a construction excise tax on 
new development (currently set at $1.00 per square foot of new residential buildings). This construction 
excise tax revenue is for development of new schools, so new development would help fund new school 
construction within the district.    

STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT:

Approval of the annexation as conditioned will bring needed R-3 zoned land into the city and will comply 
with the city's adopted comprehensive plan. Annexation will also place a stream corridor overlay zone on 
the eastern part of the site, and protect the large trees along the stream corridor.  

ATTACHMENTS:
 Order No. 2014-0033 with: 
  Exhibit A: Findings 
  Exhibit B: Annexation map 
  Exhibit C: Legal description 

Page 5



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 4

  Exhibit D: Zoning map 
 Ordinance No. 2014-2768 with: 
  Exhibit A: Annexation map 
  Exhibit B: Legal description 

1. Planning commission staff report with planning commission Resolution No. 2013-304 with: 
a. Exhibit A: Property map (by reference) 
b. Exhibit B: Legal description (by reference) 
c. Exhibit C: Findings (by reference) 

2. December 12, 2013 planning commission meeting minutes 
3. Location overview 
4. Location map 
5. Comprehensive plan map 
6. Concept development plan 
7. Aerial photos 
8. Site photos 
9. Utilities
10. Correspondence/written testimony received 
11. ANX-13-001 application 
12. Newberg Comprehensive Plan & Development Code (by reference) 

Page 6



“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.ANX\2013\108 S. Springbrook ANX-13-001\PC Staff report ANX-13-001.doc

Planning and Building Department 
P.O. Box 970 ▪ 414 E First Street ▪ Newberg, Oregon 97132
503-537-1240 ▪ Fax 503-537-1272 ▪ www.newbergoregon.gov

PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 
108 S. SPRINGBROOK ROAD ANNEXATION/ZONE CHANGE  

HEARING DATE: December 12, 2013 

FILE NO:  ANX-13-001 

REQUEST: Annexation of approx. 7.2 acres into Newberg 

LOCATION: 108 S. Springbrook Road 

TAX LOT: 3221-900 

APPLICANT: Springbrook Investments LLC 

OWNER: Estate of Jesse Charles Walker 

ZONE: County VLDR-1 (very low density residential - 1 unit per acre) 

PLAN DISTRICT: City HDR (high density residential)

OVERLAYS: Stream Corridor overlay on eastern edge, Airport Inner Horizontal Surface 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Resolution 2013-304 with 
Exhibit “A”:  Property Map 
Exhibit “B”:  Legal Description
Exhibit “C”:  Findings

1. Aerial Photo  
2. Site Photos 
3. Concept Development Plan 
4. Current Comprehensive Plan Map 
5. Current Zoning Map 
6. Utilities 
7. Site Topography 
8. Public Comments/Correspondence

Received (none as of the date of 
this report)  

9. Application 

ATTACHMENT 1

Page 7



“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.ANX\2013\108 S. Springbrook ANX-13-001\PC Staff report ANX-13-001.doc

A. DESCRIPTION OF APPLICATION:   The applicant, Springbrook Investments LLC, has 
requested an annexation of approximately 7.2 acres of property at 108 S. Springbrook Road, 
and a zone change from Yamhill County VLDR-1 to city R-3. R-3 allows a variety of uses, 
including multifamily apartments. The applicant's concept plan shows a multifamily 
development with 120 units.  

B. SITE INFORMATION: 

1. Location:  108 S. Springbrook Road 

2. Size: Approximately 7.2 acres 

3. Topography: Most of the site is relatively flat, with a steep stream corridor on the 
eastern edge.

4. Current Land Uses: Single family home and old hazelnut orchard. 

5. Natural Features & Stream Corridor overlay zone: The stream corridor overlay on the 
eastern edge of the site has many mature trees and forms a deep natural landscape 
buffer. The stream corridor overlay varies in width from 130 feet to 200 feet.  

6. Adjacent Land Uses: 

a. North: Single family home, outside city limits 

b. East: Single family homes in a subdivision (across the stream corridor) 

c. South: Single family home on a large lot (across Fernwood Road), outside city 
limits, with a city HDR comprehensive plan designation 

d. West: Manufactured home park (across Springbrook Road) 

7. Access and Transportation: Springbrook Road is a minor arterial road, and Fernwood 
Road is a major collector. As part of the Newberg-Dundee Bypass improvements 
(expected 2014-2016) Springbrook Road will be widened by the Oregon Dept. of 
Transportation (ODOT) to add a center turn lane and improved with bike lane, curb, 
gutter and sidewalks. ODOT will also install a traffic signal at the Fernwood/ 
Springbrook intersection. The Fernwood Road frontage of the annexation site will 
need to be brought up to city standards with curb, gutter and sidewalk at the time of 
development. 

8. Utilities: 

a. Sanitary Sewer:  15 inch line in Springbrook, 12 inch force main line in 
Fernwood 

b. Water: 12 inch lines in Springbrook and Fernwood 

c. Storm: 24 inch line in Fernwood 

ATTACHMENT 1

Page 8



“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.ANX\2013\108 S. Springbrook ANX-13-001\PC Staff report ANX-13-001.doc

d. Other: There are overhead utility lines on the Fernwood frontage, but not the 
Springbrook frontage.

C. PROCESS: An annexation and zone change request is a Type III application and follows the 
procedures in Newberg Development Code 15.100.050.  The Planning Commission will hold 
a quasi-judicial hearing on the application.  The Commission makes a recommendation on the 
application based on the criteria listed in the attached findings. The Planning Commission’s 
recommendation is forwarded to the City Council, who will hold a hearing and render a final 
decision on the application. If the Council approves the application, they must refer the matter 
to an election in order to be effective. Important dates related to this application are as follows:

1. 12/2/13: The planning director deemed the application complete. 

2. 11/15/13: The applicant mailed notice to the property owners within 500 
feet of the site. 

3. 11/26/13: The applicant posted notice on the site. 

4. 11/27/13: The Newberg Graphic published notice of the Planning 
Commission hearing. 

5. 12/12/13: The Planning Commission will hold a quasi-judicial hearing to 
consider the application. 

D. AGENCY COMMENTS:  The application was routed to several public agencies for review 
and comment.  As of the writing of this report, the city received the following agency 
comments:  

1. Public Works - Maintenance: Any utility access from Springbrook Road will need to be 
completed prior to bypass project reconstruction, otherwise it will be a several year 
"no cut" moratorium. 

2.  Other City departments: Police, Finance, Building: Reviewed, no conflict.

3. Frontier Communications: Reviewed, no conflict.

4. Oregon Dept. of Transportation: No comments received. 

5. Newberg School District: No comments received. 

6. Oregon Dept. of State Lands: see comments below 

ATTACHMENT 1

Page 9



“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.ANX\2013\108 S. Springbrook ANX-13-001\PC Staff report ANX-13-001.doc

E. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  As of the writing of this report, the city has received no written 
comments on the application.   

F. ANALYSIS:  

1. Comprehensive Plan designation: The annexation request for R-3 zoning matches the 
city's comprehensive plan designation of HDR. 

2. Stream Corridor overlay: The stream corridor overlay provides a wide buffer on the 
eastern edge of the property.

3. Access: The site will take access from two driveways on Fernwood Road. This will 
minimize the impact on Springbrook Road. Future development on the site will not 

ATTACHMENT 1

Page 10



“Working Together For A Better Community-Serious About Service" 
Z:\WP5FILES\FILES.ANX\2013\108 S. Springbrook ANX-13-001\PC Staff report ANX-13-001.doc

draw traffic through local residential streets in existing nearby neighborhoods.

4. Concept plan: The applicant's concept plan shows that they intend to remove the 
existing single family home and hazelnut trees, and develop approximately 120 
multifamily dwelling units on the site.

5. Site size: The tax map labels the property as 7.67 acres but it appears to be 
approximately 7.2 acres in size.

6. The map and legal description submitted do not meet the Dept. of Revenue standards 
for boundary changes and will need to be revised before the City Council hearing.

7. Springbrook Road improvements: The improvement of Springbrook Road and the 
installation of the traffic signal at Fernwood/Springbrook by ODOT mean that most of 
the required improvements will be in shortly. 

G. PRELIMINARY STAFF RECOMMENDATION: The preliminary staff recommendation 
is made in the absence of public hearing testimony, and may be modified subsequent to the 
close of the public hearing.  At this writing, staff recommends the following motion: 

Move to adopt Planning Commission Resolution 2013-304, which recommends that the City 
Council approve the requested annexation and zone change. 

ATTACHMENT 1

Page 11



ATTACHMENT 1

Page 12



City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (December 12, 2013) Page 1 of 3 

PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 
December 12, 2013 

7:00 p.m. Regular Meeting 
Newberg Public Safety Building 

401 E. Third Street 

I.  CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

Chair Cathy Stuhr called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM.

II. ROLL CALL 

Members Present: Cathy Stuhr, Chair Art Smith, Vice Chair Jason Dale  
Allyn Edwards Matt Fortner Gary Bliss 
Philip Smith Sulamita Barbiyeru, student pc 

Members Absent: Mayor Bob Andrews, Ex-Officio 

Staff Present: Barton Brierley, Planning & Building Director Steve Olson, Associate Planner  
DawnKaren Bevill, Minutes Recorder 

Others Present: Marc D. Grenz, Peggy Mangis, Warren Parrish 

III. PUBLIC COMMENTS

Chair Stuhr opened and closed the public comments as no one chose to comment. 

IV. CONSENT CALENDAR 

Approval of November 14, 2013, Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 

MOTION:   Allyn Edwards/Art Smith to approve the Consent Calendar including the planning
commission minutes for November 14, 2013. Motion carried (7Yes/0 No).  

V. QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARINGS 

1. APPLICANT:    Springbrook Investments LLC 
REQUEST: Annexation of approximately 7.2 acres 
LOCATION:  108 S. Springbrook Road 
TAX LOT: 3221-900
FILE NO.:  ANX-13-001 RESOLUTION NO.:  2013-304
CRITERIA: 15.250.020, 15.250.030, 15.302.030(A)3 

Chair Cathy Stuhr opened the Quasi-Judicial Hearing; read ORS 197.763; and called for abstentions, bias, ex-
parte contact, or objections to jurisdiction. Commissioner Gary Bliss declared he knows the applicant and has 
reviewed his work in the past, but can make an unbiased decision on this application.  Chair Stuhr declared she 
is familiar with the area as she drives by it; questions she has considered are driveway locations and sight 
distance.  Commissioner Jason Dale declared he drives by the area on his way to work.   

ATTACHMENT 2

Page 13



City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (December 12, 2013) Page 2 of 3 

Mr. Steve Olson, associate planner, presented the staff report accompanied by a PowerPoint presentation (see 
official meeting packet for full report).  Staff recommends adoption of Resolution 2013-304, recommending the 
city council approve the requested annexation and zone change to R-3 with a stream corridor overlay, an airport 
inner horizontal surface overlay, and withdraw the parcel from the Newberg Rural Fire Protection District.   

Chair Stuhr opened public testimony beginning with proponents at 7:26 PM.   

Mr. Marc D. Grenz, representing the applicant, stated he is aware of the development constraints on utility 
connections with the improvements on Springbrook Road and made himself available for questions.

Commissioner Philip Smith asked if the development will pay for the left turn lane.  Mr. Grenz replied yes, they 
will work with city staff and determine what the proportionate share will be and if it fits in to the transportation 
plan.  He does not envision being responsible for all of it.   

Ms. Peggy Mangis is a broker representing the seller of the property.  The personal representative could not be 
present this evening, but the heirs to the estate are in favor of this application.

Mr. Warren Parrish expressed his concern with the future use of this property and the intersection being signaled 
in a timely manner.  He shared concern about the entrance into the property and exit onto Fernwood Road.   

Mr. Barton Brierley, planning & building director, provided a revised copy of the annexation legal description in
Exhibit “A” to the commission.

Mr. Marc Grenz stated the property is intended to be a multi-family project, which was the assumption used for 
the traffic analysis.   

Commissioner Philip Smith asked about the timing of the intersection improvement and who will pay for it.  
Mr. Grenz stated the earliest opportunity for the voters to consider the annexation is May, 2014, assuming it is 
approved by the city council. Design review and construction drawings could be reviewed next July or August, 
2014, at the earliest.  Units could be built in early to mid-2015; about the same time as Oregon Department of 
Transportation has planned the stop light.  Mr. Brierley stated ODOT is planning to complete the Springbrook 
improvements in 2016. 

Chair Stuhr closed public testimony at 7:50 PM 

MOTION: Philip Smith/Allyn Edwards moved to approve Resolution No. 2013-304, recommending that 
the city council approve the requested annexation and zone change.  Motion carried (7 Yes/0 No).

Mr. Brierley distributed a list of next year priorities for the commission to consider and weigh in on. 

VI. ITEMS FROM STAFF 

1. Update on Council items 

Mr. Brierley reported the city council reappointed planning commissioners Allyn Edwards, Matthew Fortner,
and Art Smith for three more years; and approved the Transportation System Plan amendment for phase-one of 
the Newberg-Dundee Bypass. 

ATTACHMENT 2

Page 14



City of Newberg: Planning Commission Minutes (December 12, 2013) Page 3 of 3 

2. Other reports, letters, or correspondence 

Mr. Brierley stated if the planning commission continues to follow the current rotation, Commissioner Art 
Smith will be next in line to serve as Chair and Commissioner Bliss or Commissioner Edwards as Vice-Chair.

3.  The next planning commission meeting is scheduled for Thursday, January 9, 2014.  

VII. ITEMS FROM COMMISSIONERS 

No items were brought forward.   

VIII. ADJOURN

Chair Stuhr adjourned the meeting at 8:33 PM.

Approved by the Planning Commission on this 9th day of January, 2014.

AYES: NO: ABSENT: ABSTAIN: 

________________________________ _____________________________________ 
Planning Recording Secretary Planning Commission Chair 

ATTACHMENT 2

Page 15



 

Attachment 3: Location overview 
 

 

Page 16



 

Attachment 4: Location map 

Page 17



 

Attachment 5:  Comprehensive Plan Map 
 

 

HDR 

Page 18



 

Attachment 6: Concept Development Plan 
 

Page 19



 

Attachment 7:  Aerial Photos 

 

Page 20



 

Page 21



 

Attachment 8: Site Photos 
 

Existing house           Springbrook Road frontage  

      
 
                View east across site. Most hazelnut trees have 
            been removed. The tall trees in the distance are 
Fernwood Road frontage         in the stream corridor.  

   

Page 22



 

Attachment 9: Utilities  
 

 
 

Sanitary Sewer (green):  15 inch line in Springbrook, 12 
inch force main line in Fernwood 
Water (blue): 12 inch lines in Springbrook and 
Fernwood 
Storm (orange): 24 inch line in Fernwood 

Page 23



 

Attachment 10: Correspondence/written testimony received 
 

Public comment 

 
 

Page 24



 

Department of State Lands comment 
 

 

 

 

Page 25



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 26



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 27



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 28



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 29



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 30



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 31



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 32



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 33



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 34



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 35



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 36



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 37



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 38



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 39



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 40



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 41



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 42



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 43



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 44



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 45



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 46



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 47



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 48



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 49



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 50



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 51



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 52



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 53



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 54



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 55



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 56



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 57



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 58



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 59



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 60



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 61



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 62



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 63



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 64



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 65



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 66



A
TT

A
C

H
M

E
N

T 
11

Page 67



A
TT

A
C

H
M

E
N

T 
11

Page 68



A
TT

A
C

H
M

E
N

T 
11

Page 69



A
TT

A
C

H
M

E
N

T 
11

Page 70



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 71



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 72



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 73



ATTACHMENT 11

Page 74



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

Associated Transportation Engineering & Planning, Inc 

Apartments on 

Springbrook TIA 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

9/25/2013 
 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 75



13-285 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013            Page i 

  

Traffic Impact Analysis 

Apartments on Springbrook 

Newberg, Oregon 

Prepared for: 
Multi\Tech Engineering 

Newberg Oregon, Oregon 

Prepared by: 
Associated Transportation Engineering & Planning, Inc. (ATEP) 

PO Box 3047 
Newberg Oregon, OR 97302 

13-285

SEOF
R IONA

E S

L

9, 1
. WOE L K8 1

DERE
P

E N NG I

EG
I

R
ST

YLUJ

CH A DR L
1 7

RI

R

OREGON

E

11,155

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 76



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page ii

Table of Contents 

INTRODUCTION.................................................................................................................................................. 1

REPORT METHODOLOGY ............................................................................................................................... 2

ASSUMPTIONS .................................................................................................................................................... 2

INTERSECTION ANALYSIS ASSUMPTIONS ............................................................................................... 2

INTERSECTION ANALYSIS PROCEDURE ................................................................................................... 4

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS ................................................................................................................................ 4

SCENARIO 1 – EXISTING TRAFFIC ............................................................................................................... 4

EXISTING ROADWAYS................................................................................................................................. 4
PEAK HOUR TRAFFIC VOLUMES AND OPERATIONS ......................................................................... 5
LEVEL OF SERVICE ....................................................................................................................................... 5

SCENARIO 2 – PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT ............................................................................................ 11

TRIP GENERATION ..................................................................................................................................... 11
TRIP DISTRIBUTION ................................................................................................................................... 11

SCENARIO 3 – FUTURE 2016 WITH THE APARTMENTS ON SPRINGBROOK ................................ 17

SIGNAL WARRANT ANALYSIS ................................................................................................................... 21

LEFT TURN WARRANTS ............................................................................................................................... 22

QUEUE ANALYSIS .......................................................................................................................................... 23

FINDINGS ........................................................................................................................................................... 23

RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................................................................... 23

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 77



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page iii

List of Figures 

FIGURE 1 – SITE MAP .............................................................................................................................................. 3
FIGURE 2 -STUDY INTERSECTIONS.......................................................................................................................... 6
FIGURE 3 - LANE CONFIGURATION AND TRAFFIC CONTROL................................................................................. 7
FIGURE 4 – 2013 BASE PEAK TRAFFIC VOLUMES.................................................................................................. 8
FIGURE 5 - EXISTING PEAK LEVEL OF SERVICE ..................................................................................................... 9
FIGURE 6 - TRIP DISTRIBUTION............................................................................................................................ 12
FIGURE 7 – SITE GENERATED PEAK VOLUMES ................................................................................................... 14
FIGURE 8 – TOTAL PEAK HOUR VOLUMES.......................................................................................................... 15
FIGURE 9 – TOTAL PEAK VOLUMES LEVEL OF SERVICE..................................................................................... 16
FIGURE 10 - 2016 PEAK VOLUMES ...................................................................................................................... 18
FIGURE 11 - TOTAL 2016 PEAK VOLUMES.......................................................................................................... 19
FIGURE 12 - 2016 LEVEL OF SERVICE.................................................................................................................. 20

List of Tables 

TABLE 1 - EXISTING ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS .............................................................................................. 4
TABLE 2 - 2013 PEAK LEVEL OF SERVICE ........................................................................................................... 10
TABLE 3 - 2008 TO 2012 ACCIDENT RECORDS.................................................................................................... 10
TABLE 4 - TRIP GENERATION FOR APARTMENTS ON SPRINGBROOK.................................................................. 11
TABLE 5 -LEVEL OF SERVICE WITH THE APARTMENTS ON SPRINGBROOK ........................................................ 17
TABLE 6 - 2016 PEAK HOUR LEVEL OF SERVICE ................................................................................................ 21
TABLE 7 –SCENARIO 1 LEFT TURN WARRANT ANALYSIS.................................................................................. 22
TABLE 8 - SCENARIO 2 LEFT TURN WARRANTS ................................................................................................. 22
TABLE 9 - QUEUE ANALYSIS................................................................................................................................ 23 

APPENDIX 

Appendix A –Traffic Counts 
Appendix B –2013 Traffic Level Of Service Calculations 
Appendix C – 2013 Apartments on Springbrook Total Traffic Calculations 
Appendix D - 2016 Total Traffic Level of Service Calculations

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 78



13-285 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013            Page 1 

TRANSPORTATION ANALYSIS 
APARTMENTS ON SPRINGBROOK 

LOCATED IN 
NEWBERG, OREGON 

INTRODUCTION 

This document provides the assumptions and the conclusions of engineering analysis used for this Traffic 
Impact Analysis (TIA) for the Apartments on Springbrook.  The property is located in Newberg Oregon on 
the northeast corner of SE Springbrook Road and Fernwood Road.   The site has frontage on the east side of 
Springbrook Rd and on the north side of Fernwood Road.   The eight acre site is zoned VLDR-1 (Very Low 
Density Residential-1 acre minimum) and will be annexed into the City with an R-3 zone which allows a 
maximum of 21.8 units per acre.  The address is 108 Springbrook Road, Yamhill County Tax 
Map-3221/900. 

This study responds to the City of Newberg scope of work for this TIA.  Because no land use action is 
required to approve this development, the TIA examines current (2013) traffic conditions at development 
and in (2016) after development of the Dundee/Newberg Bypass. 

The theme of this transportation analysis is to assess the transportation impacts from the proposed 
development on the surrounding street network based on three different scenarios:   

•First, the current conditions within the study area;  

•Second, the impact of development of the property with the existing land use, Existing, 2016.  

The format used in this report was established in conversations Barton Brierley, AICP, Planning and 
Building Director, City of Newberg Oregon. 
  
Specific traffic related issues discussed in this report include: 

•Traffic analysis for the study area
•Existing land use and traffic conditions in the project area
•Existing land use and opening year traffic conditions in the project area 
•Trip Generation estimates for the Apartments on Springbrook 
•Site access locations and operations
•Safety considerations at the site access locations including, but not limited to sight distance analysis, turn 
lane and channelization needs 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 79



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 2 

This report was prepared using the latest land use and transportation data available from the City of Newberg 
Oregon.

REPORT METHODOLOGY 

Evening peak period turning movement traffic counts were conducted for this analysis and were used as a 
basis for this report.  These traffic counts taken during the p.m. peak hour on May 8th and May 17, 2013 
indicated that the evening peak hour was from 4:50 to 5:50 p.m. at Fernwood and Brutscher and 4:30 to 5:30 
at Springbrook Rd and Fernwood Road.  

The operating characteristics at each of the key signalized and unsignalized intersections during the peak 
periods were examined using the methods outlined in the 2010 Highway Capacity Manual utilizing the PTV 
Vistro computer software.  The operating characteristics examined included the average vehicle delay, 
volume to capacity (v/c) ratio, level of service, and estimated queue length. 

ASSUMPTIONS 

Site Access Points 

Access to the site will be from two improved driveways onto Fernwood Road.  See Figure 1 

INTERSECTION ANALYSIS ASSUMPTIONS 

In order to analyze each intersection, there were certain common assumptions made.  These assumptions, in 
general, are as follows: 
1. Existing traffic signal timings* were used where the intersection level of service determined was level of 

service "D" or better. *(provided by the State of Oregon) 
2. Peak hour factors used based on existing traffic counts ranged from 0.88 to 0.95 for the peak hour. 
3. Truck percentages used in the analysis were based on the truck counts performed during turning 

movement counts. 
4. Each intersection operates as an isolated intersection. 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 80



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 3 

Figure 1 – Site Map

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 81



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 4 

INTERSECTION ANALYSIS PROCEDURE 

The analysis of the key intersections included three different traffic scenarios for the peak periods.  These 
scenarios include: 

Scenario 1 - Existing Conditions  
Scenario 2 - Existing Conditions with the proposed development 
Scenario 2 – 2016 Conditions with Phase 1 of the Dundee/Newberg Bypass 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

Based on the analysis found later in this report, the following findings are made: 

� The intersections in this study are currently functioning with levels of service that are within generally 
accepted standards during the peak hour.  The development of the Apartments on Springbrook will 
not increase traffic to the point where the intersections studied will be reduced to unacceptable levels 
of service when complete. 

SCENARIO 1 – EXISTING TRAFFIC 

EXISTING ROADWAYS 

 Table 1 - Existing Roadway Characteristics 

Street Classification Lanes Posted Speed Sidewalks Bicycle On-Street
(mph) Lanes Parking

SE Springbrook Rd Minor Arterial 2 35 No No No

Fernwood Road Major Collector 2 25 No No No

Brutscher St. Minor Collector 2 25 Yes Yes No

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 82



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 5 

PEAK HOUR TRAFFIC VOLUMES AND OPERATIONS 

Morning and evening peak hour turning movement traffic counts were conducted at the key intersections for 
the preparation of this report.  These counts indicate the peak was from 4:50 to 5:50 p.m.  

Upon review of these peak hour traffic counts, the p.m. peak period was determined to be the most critical 
time in terms of traffic impacts at the intersections in the study area.  

LEVEL OF SERVICE 

All level-of-service (LOS) analysis described in this report was performed in accordance with the procedures 
stated in the 2010 Highway Capacity Manual. The appendix also indicates how level-of-service is measured 
and what is generally considered to be the acceptable range of level-of-service. 

To ensure that this analysis was based on a worst-case scenario, the peak 15-minute flow rate during each of 
the study periods was used in the evaluation of all intersection levels of service. For this reason, the analysis 
reflects conditions that are only likely to occur for 15 minutes out of each average peak hour. Traffic 
conditions during all other weekday time periods and throughout the weekend will likely operate under better 
conditions than described in this report. 

Figure 2 shows the intersections included in the analysis.  Figure 3 illustrates the lane configuration and 
Traffic Control.  Figures 4 and 5 illustrate the volumes at the study intersections during the weekday peak 
hours.  

Table 2 shows, during the peak periods the study intersections operates at acceptable level of service and v/c
ratio.

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 83



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 6 

Figure 2 -Study Intersections 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 84



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 7 

Figure 3 - Lane Configuration and Traffic Control 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 85



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 8 

Figure 4 – 2013 Base Peak Traffic Volumes 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 86



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 9 

Figure 5 - Existing Peak Level of Service 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 87



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 10

Table 2 - 2013 Peak Level of Service 

SAFETY ANALYSIS 

The Crash Data Unit of the Oregon Department of Transportation supplied accident data for the five year 
period between 2008 and 2012.  During that period no accidents were recorded at the Fernwood Rd and 
Brutscher St intersection. Table 3 shows the accidents recorded at the Springbrook/Fernwood Rd 
intersection. 

Table 3 - 2008 to 2012 Accident Records 

Table 2 indicates that 10 accidents occurred at the intersection of Springbrook Rd at Fernwood Rd between 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 88



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 11

2008 and 2012. 

SCENARIO 2 – PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

Under this scenario, the entire site would be developed as R3 Multifamily Apartments which would be 
comprised of 120 units.  For the purposes of this report the total development of the site was considered.  
This was done to show as near as possible the total impact of the development on the surrounding street 
system. 

TRIP GENERATION 

Estimates of total daily peak hour driveway volumes for the existing uses were developed from empirical 
observations at many similar-sized facilities located throughout the United States.  These empirical 
observations are summarized in a standard reference manual published by the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation, 9th Edition and the procedures and data provided in the ITE Trip 
Generation Handbook.

Estimating the number of vehicle trip ends that will be generated by the proposed development is of prime 
importance in order to accurately assess the impacts of development on the road network.   

The figures shown in Table 4 below, represent the expected number of vehicle trip ends to be generated by 
the proposed development on a daily p.m. peak hour basis based on the mathematical regression equations 
found in Section 220 of the Trip Generation Manual (9th Edition).   This development is expected to 
generate approximately 851trips per day 

Table 4 - Trip Generation for Apartments on Springbrook

Land Use Size Peak Hour
Entry Exit

220 - Apartments 120 Dwelling Units 55 29

For the purposes of this analysis, it is assumed that none of the home related person trips will be made by 
mass transit. This assumption ignores the recent statewide projections that 4-6 percent of all home based 
person trips for purposes unrelated to work will be made by transit.  Therefore, this assumption tends to 
cause the analysis to reflect a worst-case condition, and over estimate the traffic impacts associated with this 
development. 

TRIP DISTRIBUTION 

The trip distribution for this report was determined from the traffic volumes shown in the field observation 
and review of the Phase 1 Technical Report Addendum, Kittelson & Associates, Inc., September 2011.  See 
Figure 6.  

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 89



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 12

Figure 6 - Trip Distribution 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 90



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 13

The site-generated traffic shown in Figure 7 were combined with the 2013 base traffic volumes shown in 
Figure 4 to arrive at the total traffic for the proposed peak period shown in Figure 8. Figure 9 shows the level 
of service for each of the studied intersections with the Apartments on Springbrook.  

Peak hour level of service was determined at the intersections within the study area for the development of 
the site under the existing land use plan designations.   

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 91



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 14

Figure 7 – Site Generated Peak Volumes 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 92



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 15

Figure 8 – Total Peak Hour Volumes  

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 93



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 16

Figure 9 – Total Peak Volumes Level of Service 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 94



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 17

Table 5 -Level of Service with the Apartments on Springbrook 

Table 5 indicates that if the property were developed as proposed all of the intersections studies would 
operate at acceptable Mobility Standards for the current year. 

SCENARIO 3 – Future 2016 with the Apartments on Springbrook 

This scenario assumes that planned Apartments on Apartments on Springbrook is built and occupied and that 
the Newberg/Dundee Bypass is constructed and operational.  Volumes used in the Scenario were taken from 
the Phase 1 Technical Report Addendum, Kittelson & Associates, Inc., September 2011, figure 3A.  It is 
assumed that the volumes shown in Figure 3A do not include the volumes for the Apartments on Springbrook 
project. 

Figure 10 indicates the 2016 volumes shown in Figure 7 of the Traffic Design Report Phase 1 of the Bypass 
Report, Kittelson & Associates, Inc., July 17, 2012

 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 95



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 18

Figure 10 - 2016 Peak Volumes 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 96



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 19

Figure 11 - Total 2016 Peak Volumes 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 97



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 20

Figure 12 - 2016 Level of Service 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 98



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 21

Table 6 - 2016 Peak Hour Level of Service 

Signal Warrant Analysis  

Preliminary signal warrant analysis was performed at the site driveway, Fernwood and Brutscher 
intersections to evaluate the potential need for new traffic signals.  

The Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) lists nine traffic signal warrants to determine  
the need for a traffic signal at a particular intersection. Many of these warrants address specific concerns  
(e.g., school crossings, railroad crossings, etc.) and several are based strictly on vehicular volumes. No  
special concerns exist at these locations, therefore the primary consideration for a traffic signal at this  
location relates to traffic volumes and delay.   

These two intersections did not meet Preliminary signal warrants for any of the Scenarios listed in this report.  
See individual scenario appendix for detailed analysis. 

 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 99



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 22

LEFT TURN WARRANTS 

Table 7 –Scenario 1 Left Turn Warrant Analysis 

Table 8 - Scenario 2 Left Turn Warrants 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 100



13-282 Apartments on Springbrook 

September 30, 2013           Page 23

Tables 7 and 8 indicate that the intersection of Fernwood Rd at Brutscher St meets the requirements for the 
installation of left turn pockets with or without the proposed Apartments on Springbrook 

QUEUE ANALYSIS  

Table 9 - Queue Analysis 

Eastbound Southbound Northbound Westbound
Sunnybrook Rd at Fernwood RD LTR Left Left LTR
95th %ile Back of Queue [ft] 240 100 575 350

FINDINGS 

The intersections in this study are currently functioning with levels of service that are within generally 
accepted standards during the peak hour.  The development of the Apartments on Springbrook will not 
increase traffic to the point where the intersections studied will be reduced to unacceptable levels of service 
when complete. Queue analysis indicates that the main site driveway is located outside of the westbound 
queue (450 ft) in 2016.  

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 It is recommended that: 

•  The Apartments on Springbrook be developed with two driveways.  The westerly driveway be 
developed as a right in and right out driveway. 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 101



 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 102



 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 103



Type of peak hour being reported: Intersection Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

Report generated on 9/19/2013 10:44 AM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

LOCATION: S Springbrook Rd -- E 2nd St/E Fernwood Rd QC JOB #: 11333301
CITY/STATE: Newberg, OR DATE: Tue, Sep 17 2013

5-Min Count
Period

Beginning At

S Springbrook Rd
(Northbound)

S Springbrook Rd
(Southbound)

E 2nd St/E Fernwood Rd
(Eastbound)

E 2nd St/E Fernwood Rd
(Westbound)

Total Hourly
Totals

Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U
4:00 PM 0 31 2 0 1 18 5 0 7 13 3 0 11 5 1 0 97
4:05 PM 3 20 4 0 2 18 4 0 8 8 6 0 6 6 0 0 85
4:10 PM 2 18 3 0 3 25 6 0 7 6 2 0 5 6 0 0 83
4:15 PM 1 14 3 0 1 22 2 0 5 11 3 0 4 2 0 0 68
4:20 PM 2 20 3 0 0 28 8 0 3 3 2 0 3 13 3 0 88
4:25 PM 1 19 3 0 1 15 2 0 4 4 2 0 6 5 0 0 62
4:30 PM 6 27 7 0 3 14 8 0 6 3 6 0 4 4 2 0 90
4:35 PM 4 32 5 0 0 21 4 0 7 5 3 0 5 3 0 0 89
4:40 PM 3 25 3 0 3 29 3 0 4 4 1 0 2 6 2 0 85
4:45 PM 3 17 3 0 1 24 7 0 1 5 4 0 9 8 5 0 87
4:50 PM 6 21 5 0 1 21 7 0 6 8 1 0 9 5 3 0 93
4:55 PM 1 15 3 0 0 22 7 0 6 10 1 0 7 6 1 0 79 1006
5:00 PM 2 25 3 0 0 19 8 0 7 9 1 0 10 2 4 0 90 999
5:05 PM 1 12 1 0 4 17 11 0 0 9 4 0 7 6 2 0 74 988
5:10 PM 2 25 3 0 1 22 5 0 4 7 5 0 4 4 3 0 85 990
5:15 PM 3 17 5 0 2 22 3 0 9 10 2 0 6 5 1 0 85 1007
5:20 PM 2 27 6 0 4 25 10 0 7 4 1 0 1 9 1 0 97 1016
5:25 PM 0 23 4 0 2 24 8 0 9 5 0 0 6 8 3 0 92 1046
5:30 PM 1 18 9 0 2 21 6 0 3 8 2 0 7 5 3 0 85 1041
5:35 PM 1 23 1 0 0 23 8 0 4 4 2 0 4 6 2 0 78 1030
5:40 PM 1 24 3 0 3 24 5 0 4 15 2 0 2 4 1 0 88 1033
5:45 PM 0 19 5 0 3 25 4 0 4 5 1 0 3 6 1 0 76 1022
5:50 PM 1 13 2 0 1 24 8 0 4 4 1 0 3 9 1 0 71 1000
5:55 PM 1 25 3 0 4 19 9 0 4 5 0 0 8 6 1 0 85 1006

Peak 15-Min Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
TotalFlowrates Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U

All Vehicles 20 268 60 0 32 284 84 0 100 76 12 0 52 88 20 0 1096
Heavy Trucks 0 4 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Railroad

Stopped Buses
Comments:

Peak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PM
Peak 15-Min: 5:15 PM -- 5:30 PM

33 266 48

2126081

66

79

29 70

66

27

347

362

174

163

359

359

148

180

0.95

6.1 3.0 4.2

0.04.62.5

3.0

2.5

6.9 2.9

1.5

3.7

3.5

3.9

3.4

2.5

3.1

4.5

2.7

2.8

2

4

1 1

0 0 0

000

0

0

0 0

0

0

NA

NA

NA NA

NA

NA

NA NA

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 104



Appendix B
Intersection: Brutscher at Fernwood
PM Peak Hour Turning Movement Volumes Count Date:

Time SBR SBT SBL Trucks WBR WBT WBL Trucks NBR NBT NBL Trucks EBR

Total up to the end (15 minute total)
4:00 - 4:15 P 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 - 4:30 P 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 - 4:45 P 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 - 5:00 P 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 - 5:15 P 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 - 5:30 P 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 - 5:45 P 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 - 6:00 P 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

15 Minute T SBR SBT SBL Trucks WBR WBT WBL Trucks NBR NBT NBL Trucks EBR
4:00 - 4:15 P 24 0 10 0 8 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 - 4:30 P 20 0 13 0 13 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 - 4:45 P 28 0 8 0 16 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 - 5:00 P 26 0 19 0 13 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 - 5:15 P 27 0 12 0 10 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:15 - 5:30 P 33 0 10 0 13 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:30 - 5:45 P 24 0 16 0 11 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:45 - 6:00 P 27 0 14 0 14 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total by 15 minutes
4:00 - 5:00 P 98 0 50 0 50 65 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:15 - 5:15 P 101 0 52 0 52 64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 - 5:30 P 114 0 49 0 52 59 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 - 5:45 P 110 0 57 0 47 61 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5:00 - 6:00 P 111 0 52 0 48 52 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Peak Hour 114 0 49 0 52 59 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:30 - 5:30 PM

Peak Hour F 3 36    36    28 28    - -  
45 45    30 30    - -  
39 39    27 27    - -  
43 43    26 26    - -  
45 30 -

SB WB NB

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 105



Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.93 0.00

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 106



74 52

EBT EBL Trucks Total

0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0

EBT EBL Trucks Total
25 20 0 105
8 14 0 86

11 18 0 93
23 19 0 117
20 13 0 99
12 24 0 105
14 14 0 93
16 15 0 94

67 71 0 401
62 64 0 395
66 74 0 414
69 70 0 414
62 66 0 391

66 74 0 414

29    29    93    
42    42    117  
33    33    99    
36    36    105  
42    117  

September 11, 2013

EB

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 107



0.83 0.88

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 108



 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 109



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

���������	
�������	��������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3
�,��������*��,�������������4��6�����0�#���/�#���0�	���������&�'�*

	����������������������

��78�9�'��8�:.�*�&����#��#������8��$����;�'��������������3�����$����;������#��$��$��#�����<$�0$���=�"�'���;�'��>�3��
�''���$���,�����'�����8��$�������������3����$��#$�'���������,�����

?���4������?:@7B����
#��#������&���#��"�%"����?����,$�������

7�D���?
@7B����	''�#����������0������%"����&���#��"
%"��

�������������������
������������
��
���
�� �!����������	
��"����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 110



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

7:�;�'�.3����;�,�*
�D��9�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*

	''�#������7�����'�
��*
#$%��!�	�&'�

(�)����*���+

��)�,
���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

������������7����#�'�

����������������!��"��FGI

������D����D����D������"�F�$I

��������������������������������������������������������������������������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"/���$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

����?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

���4��"����������'����F�"�$I

������������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

����������������������,���3�.���������������0

�J��4��K�J�����4KDD��K��D
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

����KK����JJK�������
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

���D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�������@����&�,���

�JJ������JJ���J�K�4K�JJ��
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������������
����F;�$�$I

������������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

�����������������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������������������!��#�$�%���

������D�����J�����D�������D�4�J�����4�������J���@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

�JJ������JJ���J�K�4K�JJ��?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 111



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

7O������,�����:.�

�D��4O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

??77	���,$�:.�

��������D�����D�J��K	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I

�J����D��K���������4��D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

���D��4�4��K�����D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

����4�D���4D��J4����D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

��4K��J4��K���J4D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

���������	
������	�&�

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 112



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

�������'�������7��,����<;�,=*
?:�;�'�.3����;�,�*

���49�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*


#��#������7�����'�
��*
#0%�*���+

��)����1�����������,

���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

���������7����#�'�

������������!��"��FGI

�D����D����D������"�F�$I

��������������������������������������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

���?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

�����"����������'����F�"�$I

������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

������������������,���3�.���������������0

D�J��DK4���DJ
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

�D���������4
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

��KK����KK����KK����KK����KK����KK�������@����&�,���

D�D�JJ�4��44�
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������
����F;�$�$I

������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

�����������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������!��#�$�%���

������������������������@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

D�D�JJ�4��44�?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 113



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

?O������,�����:.�

D���"QO8�O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

				���,$�:.�

����4������J"Q	8�	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I

�����������4���4�������4J�D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

������������������4������D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

��������K�4�K�4�K�4�4�44D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

�����������4���4���4���KD��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

					?B�;������:.�

��������������J����4���4�"QB8�9�'���3���B�;������F��;�$I

���������������J���4������78�B�;��������7�%����

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

���/�������3������0����,������B�"���

��
#�����0��!��	,,����,�

��������0��	����F;�$I

&'���"�:���

&���&����������������,$���

���������	
������	�&�

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 114



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 ���	�&��
��������
����%�������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3
�,��������*��,�������������4��6�����0�#���/�#���0�	���������&�'�*

	����������������������

4�4


���'
��'���

D�

%�0$�

D�


$��

-�������"

JJ


$��

�4

:�3�

��������"

��4

%�0$�

4�

:�3�

����$����"

&���#��"�%"����?����,$�������

O������,�����/���O9

����


���'
��'���

�

%�0$�

JJ


$��

��

:�3�

-�������"

��

%�0$�

��


$��

JJ

:�3�

��������"

��

%�0$�

�J�


$��

K�

:�3�

����$����"

4K

%�0$�

�JJ


$��

��

:�3�

/���$����"

����0������%"����&���#��"
%"�

�

O������,�����/���O9

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 115



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 ���	�&��
��������
����%����	�

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3
�,��������*��,�������������4��6�����0�#���/�#���0�	���������&�'�*

	����������������������

232
�

�

�

�

4�4


���'
��'���

4$
�

�

�

����

D�

%�0$�

45
�

�

�

����

D�


$��

-�������"

66
�

�

�

����

JJ


$��

72
�

�

�

����

�4

:�3�

��������"

332
�

�

�

����

��4

%�0$�

25
�

�

�

����

4�

:�3�

����$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

&���#��"�%"
���?����,$�������

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

3835
�

�

�

�

����


���'
��'���

8
�

�

�

����

�

%�0$�

66
�

�

�

����

JJ


$��

78
�

�

�

����

��

:�3�

-�������"

$5
�

�

�

����

��

%�0$�

75
�

�

�

����

��


$��

66
�

�

�

����

JJ

:�3�

��������"

$3
�

�

�

����

��

%�0$�

$68
�

�

�

����

�J�


$��

93
�

�

�

����

K�

:�3�

����$����"

29
�

�

�

����

4K

%�0$�

$66
�

�

�

����

�JJ


$��

00
�

�

�

����

��

:�3�

/���$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

����0������%"
���&���#��"

%"�
�

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 116



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

��0��'�-��������%�����&���O������,�����R�*�����0������%"����&���#��"�%"�

�����4
������
����D4��
����D4��
�4�4�D��
�J�D���4��
4��K���D�K
��J��D����

������J�4K�J
�����DJ�4��D
�����DJ�4��4
�4���DJKD���
�DJ�4��DDK��
�J��DJ�KJ���
�J��DJ�KJ���
��4�J�K4JD�
�����K��4K�K
��K������KJ�
�4J��J��K��J
��D�J4������D
�����K������4
�4���J�J4��K�
�4K����J�����
�J��4���4��J�
/�-�

�	�
����������:
���������;
��

-�������	��'�����
��33�,���'����

���G-�������&�,���
/����'������S���8���
/����"�U�4��$

�8�/B�����	���,$��
�8�-B�L���	���,$��

O������,�����-������������������

/������@���R�
/�&����@������$�,�'�����'���R�
/���0$��@������$�,�'�����'���R�
���<"�������

-���������������

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 117



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

"
����������-
�����������	
�
/�/�-�������B���3���	���,$
V��V��
���'���'����7��"������B��

44/�������3�	���,$������O������,����
��������
���'��������0���'�������	''�	���,$���9����0������@���
V��V��@�0$�B�������'����7��"������B��
�J��4���'�������B������������	���,$�9����0������@���
/�/�9�'���7��"������B��

�*4��*����$�,'�@������3�����"�9�'������B�����	���,$�<F$I$*��=
��/�������3�:��������B������������	���,$

�����J��
���'�����"�9�'���������$�,'�����B�����	���,$�<�=
/�.����������

-���������7��"������	

����������@����
B��

/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4�J��4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4�J���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K��4��K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4��J����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4K������J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��DD������D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��DD������4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���J�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���D�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4���4���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4�D��KJ�K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�44����J��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4K������J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D�����D�D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�DJK��4K�4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�JJJ������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�JK����K��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����������

7��"�����
?DJG��GK�G���GDJG��GK�G���G��'���/�������'���/�����

-��������-��������-���������7��"������?-���������7��"������	B�����:����B�L���:����@���

-�������	��'��������@���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 118



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

��0��'�-��������%�����&���O������,�����R�*�&���#��"�%"����?����,$������

����4
�����
D4���
D4���
�J4��

�J�4����
�K�D���K
���K����
D�4����J
D�D�4��D
D�D�4��4
J4DD4���
��J�4K��
��J�D���
��J�D���
�KJ�D��
�KK4J�K

���KK���
����D�DJ
��4��JK4D
������K�4
�D������4�
�DJ��4����
�J��4�����
/-�

�	�
����������:
���������;
��

-�������	��'�����
��33�,���'����

���G-�������&�,���
/����'������S���8���
/����"�U�4��$
/B�����	���,$��

�8�-B�L���	���,$��

O������,�����-������������������

/������@���R�
/�&����@������$�,�'�����'���R�
/���0$��@������$�,�'�����'���R�
���<"�������

-���������������

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 119



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

"
����������-
�����������	
�
/�-�������B���3���	���,$
/�
���'���'����7��"������B��
�/�������3�	���,$������O������,����

4�4
���'��������0���'�������	''�	���,$���9����0������@���
V��@�0$�B�������'����7��"������B��
�J���'�������B������������	���,$�9����0������@���
/�9�'���7��"������B��

�*����$�,'�@������3�����"�9�'������B�����	���,$�<F$I$*��=
�/�������3�:��������B������������	���,$

��
���'�����"�9�'���������$�,'�����B�����	���,$�<�=
/.����������

-���������7��"������	

����������@����
B��

/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���D��4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���D���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D�����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D�����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��J��D���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K�����K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����D����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D��KK��J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D������D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D������4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�J4��K���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������K���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K��D��K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������DK��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���������J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���4�����D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���������4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��D����J��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��DJ��4���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��J���D���

7��"�����
?DJG��GK�G���GDJG��GK�G���G��'���/�������'���/�����

-��������-��������-���������7��"������?-���������7��"������	B�����:����B�L���:����@���

-�������	��'��������@���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 120



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

���"��O������,�����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 121



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$

:����7��3�0����������"�
��33�,�7�����'

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 122



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������?������'���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 123



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������O�����,������'���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 124



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������/���/�#������
���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 125



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������.�$�����'���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 126



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������&������
���'���'���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 127



���������

	
��	����������������������

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,�7��"������

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������-.�/�#���0�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 128



 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 129



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

���������	
�������	��������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3
�,��������*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	���������������&�'�*

	�����������������������%��"

��78�9�'��8�:.�*�&����#��#������8��$����;�'��������������3�����$����;������#��$��$��#�����<$�0$���=�"�'���;�'��>�3��
�''���$���,�����'�����8��$�������������3����$��#$�'���������,�����

	���������?%@7B����
#��#������&���#��"�%O�%.4

?���K����D�?:@7B����
#��#������&���#��"�%"����?����,$�������

7�J���?
@7B����	''�#����������0������%"����&���#��"
%"��

?��������K�?:@7B����
#��#������&���#��"�%"��������
9��;�#���

�������������������
������������
��
���
�� �!����������	
��"����

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 130



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

����K��'�������7��,����<;�,=*
?:�;�'�.3����;�,�*

����9�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*


#��#������7�����'�
��*
#3%�*���+

��)�����	�����	��+�
���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

���������7����#�'�

������������!��"��FGI

�D���������D������"�F�$I

��������������������������������������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

���?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

�����"����������'����F�"�$I

������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

������������������,���3�.���������������0

������4K������
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

D4������
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

�����������������������������������������@����&�,���

������4K������
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������
����F;�$�$I

������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

����������������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������!��#�$�%���

������������������������@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

��J��4K���?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 131



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

?O������,�����:.�

����"QO8�O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

		?	���,$�:.�

�������K�����"Q	8�	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I

�����������KD���KD���������D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

����������4���4����������D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

������������������DJ��DJD��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

�������������������J���JD��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

					?B�;������:.�

��������������JJ���D�����"QB8�9�'���3���B�;������F��;�$I

��������������������������78�B�;��������7�%����

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

���/�������3������0����,������B�"���

��
#�����0��!��	,,����,�

��������0��	����F;�$I

��&'���"�:���

&���&����������������,$���

���������	
������	�&�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 132



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

7:�;�'�.3����;�,�*
�J��9�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*

	''�#������7�����'�
��*
#$%��!�	�&'�

(�)����*���+

��)�,
���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

������������7����#�'�

����������������!��"��FGI

�D����D����D����D������"�F�$I

��������������������������������������������������������������������������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"/���$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

����?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

���4��"����������'����F�"�$I

������������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

����������������������,���3�.���������������0

�K��D���DJ�����4���D��K��D
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

�����K�4��JJK�D�����
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

���D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�������@����&�,���

��K������JJ���J��DD��JJ��
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������������
����F;�$�$I

������������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

�����������4��������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������������������!��#�$�%���

������D�����J�����D�������D�4�J�����4�������J���@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

�JJ������JJ���J�K�4K�JJ��?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 133



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

7O������,�����:.�

�J��4O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

??77	���,$�:.�

���K����������D���4K	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I

�����4��D������������D�D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

������J�4��J4����D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

�4�J��K���D����44�JKD��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

��DK������������D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

���������	
������	�&�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 134



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

����D��'�������7��,����<;�,=*
?:�;�'�.3����;�,�*

���K9�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*


#��#������7�����'�
��*
#0%�*���+

��)����1�����������,

���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

���������7����#�'�

������������!��"��FGI

�D����D����D������"�F�$I

��������������������������������������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

���?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

�����"����������'����F�"�$I

������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

������������������,���3�.���������������0

D�K�K����D�DJ
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

�D�������K�4
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

��KK����KK����KK����KK����KK����KK�������@����&�,���

D����������4�
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������
����F;�$�$I

������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

���JD�K������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������!��#�$�%���

������������������������@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

D�D�JJ�4��44�?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 135



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

?O������,�����:.�

D���"QO8�O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

		?	���,$�:.�

����4�������4"Q	8�	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I

�������������������4�����KJ�D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

����������4���4���DJ�����D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

�����������D���D����4�DKD��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

������������������4����KD��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

					?B�;������:.�

��������������JJ��D������"QB8�9�'���3���B�;������F��;�$I

���������������J���J������78�B�;��������7�%����

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

���/�������3������0����,������B�"���

��
#�����0��!��	,,����,�

��������0��	����F;�$I

&'���"�:���

&���&����������������,$���

���������	
������	�&�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 136



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

�������'�������7��,����<;�,=*
	:�;�'�.3����;�,�*

���9�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*


#��#������7�����'�
��*
#2%�*���+

��)��)�

���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

���������7����#�'�

������������!��"��FGI

������D�����������"�F�$I

��������������������������������������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

���?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

�����"����������'����F�"�$I

������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

��������������,���3�.���������������0

����4��D���
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

�4444���
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

�����������������������������������������@����&�,���

����4��D���
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������
����F;�$�$I

������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

��������������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������!��#�$�%���

������������������������@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

��J��4K���?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 137



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

	O������,�����:.�

����"QO8�O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

				���,$�:.�

������������"Q	8�	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I

�������������������������D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

�������������������������D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

������������������DK����D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

������������������������D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

				B�;������:.�

������������������������"QB8�9�'���3���B�;������F��;�$I

��������������������������78�B�;��������7�%����

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

���/�������3������0����,������B�"���

��
#�����0��!��	,,����,�

��������0��	����F;�$I

&'���"�:���

&���&����������������,$���

���������	
������	�&�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 138



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 ���	�&��
��������
����%�������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3
�,��������*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	���������������&�'�*

	�����������������������%��"

�JK


���'
��'���

��

%�0$�

��4


$��

-�������"

��D


$��

��������"

�

%�0$�

����$����"

&���#��"�%O�%.4

O������,�����/���O9

4D4


���'
��'���

D�

%�0$�

��


$��

-�������"

��


$��

��

:�3�

��������"

���

%�0$�

4�

:�3�

����$����"

&���#��"�%"����?����,$�������

O������,�����/���O9

��JJ


���'
��'���

�

%�0$�

�K


$��

��

:�3�

-�������"

��

%�0$�

��


$��

JJ

:�3�

��������"

��

%�0$�

�J�


$��

�D

:�3�

����$����"

D�

%�0$�

�JJ


$��

��

:�3�

/���$����"

����0������%"����&���#��"
%"�

�

O������,�����/���O9

�K�


���'
��'���

��

%�0$�

���


$��

-�������"

�4K


$��

��

:�3�

��������"

��

%�0$�

��

:�3�

����$����"

&���#��"�%"���������9��;�#���

O������,�����/���O9

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 139



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 ���	�&��
��������
����%����	�

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3
�,��������*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	���������������&�'�*

	�����������������������%��"

069
�

D�

�

�

���


���'
��'���

38
�

��

�

����

�

%�0$�

372
�

��

�

����

�J�


$��

-�������"

374
�

��

�

����

�4K


$��

��������"

5
�

�

�

����

�

%�0$�

����$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

&���#��"
%O�%.4

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

242
�

4�

�

�

4�4


���'
��'���

4$
�

�

�

����

D�

%�0$�

78
�

��

�

����

D�


$��

-�������"

7$
�

J

�

����

JJ


$��

75
�

D

�

����

�4

:�3�

��������"

30$
�

�K

�

����

��4

%�0$�

25
�

�

�

����

4�

:�3�

����$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

&���#��"�%"
���?����,$�������

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

3866
�

4�

�

�

����


���'
��'���

7
�

�

�

����

�

%�0$�

79
�

��

�

����

JJ


$��

73
�

�

�

����

��

:�3�

-�������"

$5
�

�

�

����

��

%�0$�

58
�

��

�

����

��


$��

66
�

�

�

����

JJ

:�3�

��������"

$3
�

�

�

����

��

%�0$�

$68
�

�

�

����

�J�


$��

54
�

�4

�

����

K�

:�3�

����$����"

48
�

�

�

����

4K

%�0$�

$66
�

�

�

����

�JJ


$��

00
�

�

�

����

��

:�3�

/���$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

����0������%"
���&���#��"

%"�
�

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

095
�

�K

�

�

���


���'
��'���

35
�

��

�

����

�

%�0$�

370
�

��

�

����

�J�


$��

-�������"

329
�

�

�

����

�4K


$��

$7
�

��

�

����

�

:�3�

��������"

33
�

��

�

����

�

%�0$�

33
�

��

�

����

�

:�3�

����$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

&���#��"�%"
�������

9��;�#��
�

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 140



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

��0��'�-��������%�����&���O������,�����R�*�&���#��"�%"���������9��;�#��

����D����4
���JK�K4��
���JD�K���
�K�4��D4��
������4J��
�D��������
�4�������K
����D��D��
��K4���J
����KJ�D
����KJ�4
��DK���
�JK�D��
KJ�J���
KJ�J���
KJ�J��
4�D�KK
������
��K��J
��KD
�DJ4
�DJ�
�44�
�44�
/-�

�	�
����������:
���������;
��

-�������	��'�����
��33�,���'����

��G-�������&�,���
V�����'������S���8���
/����"�U�4��$
/B�����	���,$��

�8�-B�L���	���,$��

O������,�����-������������������

/������@���R�
/�&����@������$�,�'�����'���R�
/���0$��@������$�,�'�����'���R�
���<"�������

-���������������

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 141



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

"
����������-
�����������	
�
/�-�������B���3���	���,$
/�
���'���'����7��"������B��
�/�������3�	���,$������O������,����

�K�
���'��������0���'�������	''�	���,$���9����0������@���
/�@�0$�B�������'����7��"������B��
����'�������B������������	���,$�9����0������@���
/�9�'���7��"������B��

�*����$�,'�@������3�����"�9�'������B�����	���,$�<F$I$*��=
�/�������3�:��������B������������	���,$

����
���'�����"�9�'���������$�,'�����B�����	���,$�<�=
/.����������

-���������7��"������	

����������@����
B��

/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����J���4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����D����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����4D���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K���4���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��D��D����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4������K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������J��J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����JD��D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����JD��4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����DK���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����4����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K���K��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4����K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���4���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����D�D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���K��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���K��

7��"�����
?DJG��GK�G���GDJG��GK�G���G��'���/�������'���/�����

-��������-��������-���������7��"������?-���������7��"������	B�����:����B�L���:����@���

-�������	��'��������@���

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 142



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

��0��'�-��������%�����&���O������,�����R�*�����0������%"����&���#��"�%"�

K�4��4
K�4���
����JD��
����JD��
�D�4�J��
�K�D���J��
4��K�����K
�D��������

������JDDD�J
��D��JJ�DJ�D
��D��JJ�DJ�4
�4���J��J���
�J��D�K�J���
�J��D�K�����
�J��D�K�����
�K��JKK��D�
��J�������4K
����������K�
�DJ�����J��JJ
�KJ�JD�4����D
�������4K��D4
�D���K��4�4��
�J���D��K�D��
��J�4��KD�DJ�
/�-�

�	�
����������:
���������;
��

-�������	��'�����
��33�,���'����

���G-�������&�,���
/����'������S���8���
/����"�U�4��$

�8�/B�����	���,$��
�8�-B�L���	���,$��

O������,�����-������������������

/������@���R�
/�&����@������$�,�'�����'���R�
/���0$��@������$�,�'�����'���R�
���<"�������

-���������������

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 143



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

"
����������-
�����������	
�
/�/�-�������B���3���	���,$
V��V��
���'���'����7��"������B��

44/�������3�	���,$������O������,����
��JJ��JJ
���'��������0���'�������	''�	���,$���9����0������@���
V��V��@�0$�B�������'����7��"������B��
��J�4���'�������B������������	���,$�9����0������@���
/�/�9�'���7��"������B��

�*���*4���$�,'�@������3�����"�9�'������B�����	���,$�<F$I$*��=
��/�������3�:��������B������������	���,$

�������D
���'�����"�9�'���������$�,'�����B�����	���,$�<�=
/�.����������

-���������7��"������	

����������@����
B��

/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��D����4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��D�����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����D���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��������K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4D�JK���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��D4������J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��J�������D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��J�������4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K��������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������4����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���J��D����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���J��D����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4K��J4��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4�D���D�K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4D����D��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4�������J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�DD���J��D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�DK������4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�JK�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�J�J���K��
/�/�/�/�/�/�V��/�/�/���D��4���

7��"�����
?DJG��GK�G���GDJG��GK�G���G��'���/�������'���/�����

-��������-��������-���������7��"������?-���������7��"������	B�����:����B�L���:����@���

-�������	��'��������@���

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 144



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

��0��'�-��������%�����&���O������,�����R�*�&���#��"�%"����?����,$������

4���4
4����
DD4��
DD4��
�JD��

�K�D����
�������K
�J���4��
J�D�4��J
JDD444�D
JDD444�4
��D�4K��
�KJDD���
K�JKDD��
K�JKDD��
K���D��

�������K
��4�D���
������K�J
��K��D��D
�4D����K4
����4���D�
��4�4D����
�K��D�����
/-�

�	�
����������:
���������;
��

-�������	��'�����
��33�,���'����

���G-�������&�,���
/����'������S���8���
/����"�U�4��$
/B�����	���,$��

�8�-B�L���	���,$��

O������,�����-������������������

/������@���R�
/�&����@������$�,�'�����'���R�
/���0$��@������$�,�'�����'���R�
���<"�������

-���������������

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 145



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

"
����������-
�����������	
�
/�-�������B���3���	���,$
/�
���'���'����7��"������B��
�/�������3�	���,$������O������,����

4D4
���'��������0���'�������	''�	���,$���9����0������@���
V��@�0$�B�������'����7��"������B��
�K���'�������B������������	���,$�9����0������@���
/�9�'���7��"������B��

�*����$�,'�@������3�����"�9�'������B�����	���,$�<F$I$*��=
�/�������3�:��������B������������	���,$

����
���'�����"�9�'���������$�,'�����B�����	���,$�<�=
/.����������

-���������7��"������	

����������@����
B��

/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4�D��4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4�D���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D�����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D�����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��������K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��J�D4���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�J���J��J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�JD��K��D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�JD��K��4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K��������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K��������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������J4�K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���4������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������KJ�J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���K���K�D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4D�����4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������D���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���4��J���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K�������

7��"�����
?DJG��GK�G���GDJG��GK�G���G��'���/�������'���/�����

-��������-��������-���������7��"������?-���������7��"������	B�����:����B�L���:����@���

-�������	��'��������@���

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 146



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 �	!�&�����	
��������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3
�,��������*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	���������������&�'�*

	�����������������������%��"

388,8892$544������ �	!�� 
��
������K4��DD�D���JD���K4������������	���������*�W���

=�
-� 
��
 �	!� 
�����	!� �	!��
�� �	!����=����=���>���	��)�����,

��,�
������������	'���?
�����%�"��

������ �	!�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 147



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 �	!��	���	'��	
��������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3
�,��������*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	���������������&�'�*

	�����������������������%��"

$9388,8846388,88 
��
J������������J*�!���
��D����4�D���D*�!���
��D����4�D���4*�!���
�D����D����*�!���
��D����4�D����*�!���

 �	!������= �	!������=?
�����@��
*�
��?
��% 
�?
��%

?
���3%�?
��

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 148



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

���"��O������,�����

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������`

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 149



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$

:����7��3�0����������"�
��33�,�7�����'

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 150



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������?������'���

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 151



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������/���/�#������
���

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 152



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������&������
���'���'���

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 153



���������

	
��	�����������������������%��"

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,�7��"������

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,���������#��$�/�#���0�	���������"3�,��������*��*��,�������������4�#�/�#���0�	��������

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 154



 

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 155



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

���������	
�������	��������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

�,��������*��*��,������������J��$������/�#���0�?�����#
���

�������&�'�*
	����������������0�����

��78�9�'��8�:.�*�&����#��#������8��$����;�'��������������3�����$����;������#��$��$��#�����<$�0$���=�"�'���;�'��>�3��
�''���$���,�����'�����8��$�������������3����$��#$�'���������,�����

	���������?%@7B����
#��#������&���#��"�%O�%.4

?���4���K4�?:@7B����
#��#������&���#��"�%"����?����,$�������

?������D�K-?:@7B������0��'�X�"����0������%"����&���#��"
%"��

?����������?:@7B����
#��#������&���#��"�%"��������
9��;�#���

�������������������
������������
��
���
�� �!����������	
��"����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 156



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

�������'�������7��,����<;�,=*
?:�;�'�.3����;�,�*

����9�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*


#��#������7�����'�
��*
#3%�*���+

��)�����	�����	��+�
���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

���������7����#�'�

������������!��"��FGI

�D���������D������"�F�$I

��������������������������������������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

���?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

�����"����������'����F�"�$I

������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

������������������,���3�.���������������0

����D��D������
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

D4�4����
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

�����������������������������������������@����&�,���

����D��D������
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������
����F;�$�$I

������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

����������������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������!��#�$�%���

������������������������@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

��KD��D���?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 157



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

?O������,�����:.�

���J"QO8�O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

		?	���,$�:.�

�������4���J�"Q	8�	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I

���������4�J��4�J���DJ��DJ�D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

����������DK��DK���������D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

�����������KK���KK��J���J�D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

����������4K��4K���J���JD��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

					?B�;������:.�

������������������4������"QB8�9�'���3���B�;������F��;�$I

��������������������������78�B�;��������7�%����

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

���/�������3������0����,������B�"���

��
#�����0��!��	,,����,�

��������0��	����F;�$I

��&'���"�:���

&���&����������������,$���

���������	
������	�&�

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 158



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

��D�K��'�������7��,����<;�,=*
?:�;�'�.3����;�,�*

����9�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*
��0��'�X�"7�����'�
��*

#$%��!�	�&'�

(�)����*���+

��)�,
���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

������������7����#�'�

����������������!��"��FGI

�D����D����D����D������"�F�$I

������������������������������������������������������������������J�������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"/���$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

����?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

���4��"����������'����F�"�$I

������������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

����������������������,���3�.���������������0

�KK��J�DK���DKD�J��J����44���
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

���4��4�D�4���D��J�D���D
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

���D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�����D�������@����&�,���

�����J�DD�JDDD�D��D����4�D��
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������������
����F;�$�$I

������������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

�����������4��������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������������������!��#�$�%���

������D�����J�����D�������D�4�J�����4�������J���@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

��JD�J�DDKDDDD�D��4D���4�D��?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 159



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

������������������������������������������������O8�Y�������&�'�����0�&�,���

����J���������J��������J���J�����J���J��9���,����:��0�$�F3�I

����K���������K���������K����K������K����K��9���,����:�,������F3�I

��������������"��������%�,�''

������������B�6�����%�,�''

������������B�������%�,�''

������������������������������������'�8�7'�����,��:����
����F�I

������������������������������������'�8�������Y�:����
����F�I

��D���D���D���D���"��������7'�����,��F�I

������������-�'��F�I

�����D��������D�����������������������$�,'���6��������F�I

�4���4���D����D����'���F�I

�����D��������D��������D��D�����D��D	''���"�F�I

�����D��������D��������D��D�����D��D	�����F�I

�4���4���4J��4J�B�6�����!�����F�I

�D��D����4���4B�������!�����F�I

��������:��"��:��":��"���:�0

�K��4��J���D��0��'�!���

�������������������������������������������������������������,���������������������,��7�����'�
��

A��	�&�/� 	�	�&

4���:���������F�I

���0'�?��"��������;��B�"�

:��"!����.33����%�3����,�

K���.33����F�I

&�''���,�����"	,��������
��


�����3�9�����������7���"�����"7���"��������
��

���7�,'��:��0�$�F�I

���0��'�7���"��������!���

��:�,���"����7?9

���������	
������	�&�

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 160



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

��D��4�����K��4�KJ�4�D��J���44�K��D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

�������J����D���DK���4D�����D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

�����K�4���������4K����DK�����JKD��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

��J�D�J���������J�������D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

���������������7����,�'�:����!���

99?			:����!����:.�

4J�J�4��JJ�������J�������D�"8�9�'���3���:����!����F��;�$I

���J��J���DD���J��4K����Z8�;�'������,��,���

����@�
�!�)������

�������������������������&8���0��������3�,���

������������������������%8�'�����������

������������������������"�8�O�����'�P�����9�'���F�I

��4����K��K�������������"�8�O�,�������'�9�'���F�I

������������������������O8�Y�������&�'�����0�&�,���

���K���K��D����4��D����4�8�"�'���,�'��������

44���4���KK�����J�������D�"�8�Y��3����9�'���F�I

�JD�D4�����������J��DD,8�7��,����F;�$�$I

��D���D���D���D���D���D��8������������3'�#������F;�$�$I

���J�����������4��������<;����=Q����'�����������������&'�#�%���

���K���K��JK���D�������D0���78�!�������7�,'�

�����DK��JK�0Q�8��33�,��;��!�����
����F�I

������������������������'�8�7'�����,��:����
����F�I

������������������������'�Q8���������"�������Y�:����
����F�I

4���4���4���4���4���4���:8�
���'�:����
�������7�,'��F�I

777:7::����!���

����@�
�!�������	
��

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 161



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

4��JJ 4��JJ4��JJ 4J�J� 4J�J�4J�J��������D� ����"QB8�9�'���3���B�;������F��;�$I ��������� ��J�

9 99 99 9?	B�;������:.� 	 ?	 	

4��JJ 4J�J�"Q	8�	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I �����K�KK

9 9	���,$�:.� 	 ?

�����"QO8�O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

?O������,�����:.�

��D�KO������,�������7

����������������%��0�4
����������������%��0��
�������������KJ�%��0��
�������������4D�%��0��

��B�����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 162



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

���K4��'�������7��,����<;�,=*
?:�;�'�.3����;�,�*

���49�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*


#��#������7�����'�
��*
#0%�*���+

��)����1�����������,

���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

���������7����#�'�

������������!��"��FGI

�D����D����D������"�F�$I

��������������������������������������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

���?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

�����"����������'����F�"�$I

������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

������������������,���3�.���������������0

D��D��J��K�JK��
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

��������4��4
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

��KK����KK����KK����KK����KK����KK�������@����&�,���

4DJJ����D�4KKD
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������
����F;�$�$I

������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

���JD�K������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������!��#�$�%���

������������������������@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

4DDD��D�����KD?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 163



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

?O������,�����:.�

D���"QO8�O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

		?	���,$�:.�

������D4����J"Q	8�	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I

���������4��J�4��J�D����J����D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

����������D���D���J4��J��D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

�����������4D���4D���������D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

����������D���D���4D���JD��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

					?B�;������:.�

��������������JJ��D������"QB8�9�'���3���B�;������F��;�$I

�������������������K���K��78�B�;��������7�%����

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

���/�������3������0����,������B�"���

��
#�����0��!��	,,����,�

��������0��	����F;�$I

&'���"�:���

&���&����������������,$���

���������	
������	�&�

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 164



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

�������'�������7��,����<;�,=*
	:�;�'�.3����;�,�*

���9�'���<��,���;�$=*

�D��������	��'����������"*
@7B����	��'�����B��$�"*


#��#������7�����'�
��*
#2%�*���+

��)��)�

���������	
���������-�����	���)�!
��

���������7����#�'�

������������!��"��FGI

������D�����������"�F�$I

��������������������������������������,����:��0�$�F3�I

������/����3�:����������,���

������������������������������:����-�"�$�F3�I

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�
�����0�B�;�����

:����7��3�0�������

-�������"��������"����$����"	���,$

/���

���������	
������!

���?�,�,'����'����F��,�,'���$I

�����"����������'����F�"�$I

������:�,�'�?��������0�%����F�$I

������.���������������0�B����;���%����F�$I

��������������,���3�.���������������0

����4��D���
���'�	��'�������'����F;�$�$I

�4444���
���'��D�B��������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������������������.�$���	"L��������&�,���

�����������������������������������������@����&�,���

����4��D���
���'�@���'����'����F;�$�$I

������%�0$��
�������%�"���'����F;�$�$I

������.�$�����'����F;�$�$I

�������6�����0������	"L����������'����F;�$�$I

��������������
����F;�$�$I

������9�;����"�
����F;�$�$I

��������������!�������"�
����F;�$�$I

������O�����,������'����F;�$�$I

������������������������!��#�$�%���

������������������������@��;����$�,'������,����0��FGI

������������������������������������?������'����	"L��������&�,���

��J��4K���?������'����O����F;�$�$I

/���

�
�����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 165



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

	O������,�����:.�

����"QO8�O������,�����9�'���F��;�$I

				���,$�:.�

������������"Q	8�	���,$�9�'���F��;�$I

�������������������������D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

�������������������������D�$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

������������������DK����D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F3�I

������������������������D��$����,����'��P�����:��0�$�F;�$I

				B�;������:.�

������������������������"QB8�9�'���3���B�;������F��;�$I

��������������������������78�B�;��������7�%����

�
������.��!!�
��.�/����������	
��)������

���/�������3������0����,������B�"���

��
#�����0��!��	,,����,�

��������0��	����F;�$I

&'���"�:���

&���&����������������,$���

���������	
������	�&�

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 166



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 ���	�&��
��������
����%�������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

�,��������*��*��,������������J��$������/�#���0�?�����#
���

�������&�'�*
	����������������0�����

�JK


���'
��'���

��

%�0$�

��4


$��

-�������"

��D


$��

��������"

�

%�0$�

����$����"

&���#��"�%O�%.4

O������,�����/���O9

DD�


���'
��'���

4D

%�0$�

JJ


$��

-�������"

���


$��

�D

:�3�

��������"

�4K

%�0$�

KD

:�3�

����$����"

&���#��"�%"����?����,$�������

O������,�����/���O9

����


���'
��'���

��

%�0$�

��


$��

�J�

:�3�

-�������"

DD

%�0$�

�J


$��

DD

:�3�

��������"

D�

%�0$�

D��


$��

D�

:�3�

����$����"

���

%�0$�

4�D


$��

��

:�3�

/���$����"

����0������%"����&���#��"
%"�

�

O������,�����/���O9

4DK


���'
��'���

��

%�0$�

��D


$��

-�������"

��D


$��

��

:�3�

��������"

��

%�0$�

��

:�3�

����$����"

&���#��"�%"���������9��;�#���

O������,�����/���O9

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 167



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 ���	�&��
��������
����%����	�

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

�,��������*��*��,������������J��$������/�#���0�?�����#
���

�������&�'�*
	����������������0�����

069
�

D�

�

�

���


���'
��'���

38
�

��

�

����

�

%�0$�

372
�

��

�

����

�J�


$��

-�������"

374
�

��

�

����

�4K


$��

��������"

5
�

�

�

����

�

%�0$�

����$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

&���#��"
%O�%.4

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

448
�

4�

�

�

D��


���'
��'���

24
�

�

�

����

4D

%�0$�

66
�

��

�

����

DD


$��

-�������"

333
�

J

�

����

��D


$��

54
�

D

�

����

��

:�3�

��������"

329
�

�K

�

����

���

%�0$�

94
�

�

�

����

KD

:�3�

����$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

&���#��"�%"
���?����,$�������

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

37$7
�

4�

�

�

�JK�


���'
��'���

$7
�

�

�

����

��

%�0$�

77
�

��

�

����

JD


$��

363
�

�

�

����

�J�

:�3�

-�������"

44
�

�

�

����

DD

%�0$�

56
�

��

�

����

KD


$��

44
�

�

�

����

DD

:�3�

��������"

48
�

�

�

����

D�

%�0$�

478
�

�

�

����

D��


$��

45
�

�4

�

����

4D

:�3�

����$����"

30$
�

�

�

����

���

%�0$�

2$4
�

�

�

����

4�D


$��

$8
�

�

�

����

��

:�3�

/���$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

����0������%"
���&���#��"

%"�
�

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

249
�

�K

�

�

�K�


���'
��'���

35
�

��

�

����

�

%�0$�

354
�

��

�

����

�KD


$��

-�������"

354
�

�

�

����

��D


$��

$7
�

��

�

����

�

:�3�

��������"

33
�

��

�

����

�

%�0$�

33
�

��

�

����

�

:�3�

����$����"

*������ 
��
.�$��

/���/�#�
���

O�����,���

!��#�$�%���

&���'�?���

&���#��"�%"
�������

9��;�#��
�

��'����
��O������,����
/���O9

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 168



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

*	��������
�����

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

�,��������*��*��,������������J��$������/�#���0�?�����#
���

�������&�'�*
	����������������0�����

����4��D�
���'�	��'�������'���

�������
���'���'���

DK��������*�W���

%�0$�
$��
$��%�0$�

-�������"��������"����$����" 
���'W����O9*�/���

O������,�����4*�&���#��"�%O�%.

D��D��J��K�JK��
���'�	��'�������'���

���JD���
���'���'���

4����JD����*�W���

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�

-�������"��������"����$����" 
���'W����O9*�/���

O������,������*�&���#��"�%"����?����,$������

�KK��J�DK���DKD�J��J����44���
���'�	��'�������'���

�����������4���
���'���'���

4������������4����*�W���

%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�

-�������"��������"����$����"/���$����" 
���'W����O9*�/���

O������,������*�����0������%"����&���#��"�%"�

����D��D������
���'�	��'�������'���

�����������
���'���'���

��������������*�W���

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�

-�������"��������"����$����" 
���'W����O9*�/���

O������,������*�&���#��"�%"���������9��;�#��

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 169



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

*	�������=�
-� 
��������	�

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

�,��������*��*��,������������J��$������/�#���0�?�����#
���

�������&�'�*
	����������������0�����

D���JGJ���G���D�GD����G
���'

�����GD���JGJ���G���D�GD����G�*�W���

%�0$�
$��
$��%�0$�

-�������"��������"����$����" 
���'W����O9*�/���

O������,�����4*�&���#��"�%O�%.

����G���D�G4�DDG4�J4G����G����G
���'

D���G����DG4�DDG4�J4G����G��*�W���

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�

-�������"��������"����$����" 
���'W����O9*�/���

O������,������*�&���#��"�%"����?����,$������

�����G����4G��44G����G��4�G����G����G����G�K�4�G��D�G����G����G
���'

��D�G�����G����4G��44G���4�G����K�4�G��D�G���*�W���

%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�%�0$�
$��:�3�

-�������"��������"����$����"/���$����" 
���'W����O9*�/���

O������,������*�����0������%"����&���#��"�%"�

D����GD���G����GD����GD��DJG4��44G
���'

4D��JGD����GD���G�D���GD��DJG4��44G�*�W���

%�0$�
$��
$��:�3�%�0$�:�3�

-�������"��������"����$����" 
���'W����O9*�/���

O������,������*�&���#��"�%"���������9��;�#��

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 170



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

��0��'�-��������%�����&���O������,�����R�*�&���#��"�%"���������9��;�#��

�������4�4
�������D��
����������
�K��K�����
���J��J���
�D�D��4J��
�4�4���D�K
�������K��
���������J
������J�D
������J�4
��D����
�K�K���
KK�����
KK�����
K�K�D�
4444�K
��4�4�
�����J
���D
��J4
��J�
�44�
�44�
/-�

�	�
����������:
���������;
��

-�������	��'�����
��33�,���'����

��G-�������&�,���
V�����'������S���8���
/����"�U�4��$
/B�����	���,$��

�8�-B�L���	���,$��

O������,�����-������������������

/������@���R�
/�&����@������$�,�'�����'���R�
/���0$��@������$�,�'�����'���R�
���<"�������

-���������������

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 171



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

"
����������-
�����������	
�
/�-�������B���3���	���,$
/�
���'���'����7��"������B��
�/�������3�	���,$������O������,����

4DK
���'��������0���'�������	''�	���,$���9����0������@���
/�@�0$�B�������'����7��"������B��
����'�������B������������	���,$�9����0������@���
/�9�'���7��"������B��

�*����$�,'�@������3�����"�9�'������B�����	���,$�<F$I$*��=
�/�������3�:��������B������������	���,$

���J
���'�����"�9�'���������$�,'�����B�����	���,$�<�=
/.����������

-���������7��"������	

����������@����
B��

/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����4�J��4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����4�K���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����4�����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��K��4����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��D�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4���D��K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����J����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���������J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������J��D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������J��4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����K����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K��D����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K��D����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K��D���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4�K��K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���4K��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���4��J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����K�D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���K��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���K��

7��"�����
?DJG��GK�G���GDJG��GK�G���G��'���/�������'���/�����

-��������-��������-���������7��"������?-���������7��"������	B�����:����B�L���:����@���

-�������	��'��������@���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 172



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

��0��'�-��������%�����&���O������,�����R�*�&���#��"�%"����?����,$������

D4��4
D4���
�J���
�J���
�K4��

��������
�J�����K
4�4�����
K������J
K4�44��D
K4�44��4
��K�4���

���K�4K��
��D��D���
��D��D���
�����D��
�4���4J�K
�4�������
�DK�4��DJ
����D�K4D
�KJ�JDK�4
�����4��4�
��4��K����
�����J����
/-�

�	�
����������:
���������;
��

-�������	��'�����
��33�,���'����

���G-�������&�,���
/����'������S���8���
/����"�U�4��$
/B�����	���,$��

�8�-B�L���	���,$��

O������,�����-������������������

/������@���R�
/�&����@������$�,�'�����'���R�
/���0$��@������$�,�'�����'���R�
���<"�������

-���������������

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 173



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

"
����������-
�����������	
�
/�-�������B���3���	���,$
/�
���'���'����7��"������B��
�/�������3�	���,$������O������,����

DD�
���'��������0���'�������	''�	���,$���9����0������@���
V��@�0$�B�������'����7��"������B��
�����'�������B������������	���,$�9����0������@���
/�9�'���7��"������B��

�*4���$�,'�@������3�����"�9�'������B�����	���,$�<F$I$*��=
�/�������3�:��������B������������	���,$

��
���'�����"�9�'���������$�,'�����B�����	���,$�<�=
/.����������

-���������7��"������	

����������@����
B��

/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D�J��4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�D�J���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��J��D��K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�4��J����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K�������J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K4���4��D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�K4���4��4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�����������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���D��4����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���D��4����
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������D���
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4������K
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��4�������
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��DK���D�J
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/������4��D
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/��KJ��D4�4
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�������K��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/���4���D��
/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/�/����������

7��"�����
?DJG��GK�G���GDJG��GK�G���G��'���/�������'���/�����

-��������-��������-���������7��"������?-���������7��"������	B�����:����B�L���:����@���

-�������	��'��������@���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 174



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 �	!�&�����	
��������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

�,��������*��*��,������������J��$������/�#���0�?�����#
���

�������&�'�*
	����������������0�����

388,8892$544������ �	!�� 
��
������K4��DD�D���JD���K4������������	���������*�W���

=�
-� 
��
 �	!� 
�����	!� �	!��
�� �	!����=����=���>���	��)�����,

��,�
������������	'���?
�����%�"��

������ �	!�

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 175



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

 �	!��	���	'��	
��������

���������%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

�,��������*��*��,������������J��$������/�#���0�?�����#
���

�������&�'�*
	����������������0�����

$9388,8846388,88 
��
J������������J*�!���
��D����4�D���D*�!���
��D����4�D���4*�!���
�D����D����*�!���
��D����4�D����*�!���

 �	!������= �	!������=?
�����@��
*�
��?
��% 
�?
��%

?
���3%�?
��

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 176



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

���"��O������,�����

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 177



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$

:����7��3�0����������"�
��33�,�7�����'

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 178



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������?������'���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 179



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������/���/�#������
���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 180



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,���'������&������
���'���'���

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 181



���������

	
��	����������������0�����

����������������

!�������"�#��$


��33�,�7��"������

%:�-��'�

%�����&�'�*�&*+���+�,������������J�#��$�	���������"3

ATTACHMENT 11

Page 182



ORDER NO. 2014-0033

AN ORDER FINDING PROPERTY LOCATED AT 108 S. SPRINGBROOK
ROAD, YAMHILL COUNTY TAX LOT 3221-900, MEETS THE 
APPLICABLE NEWBERG DEVELOPMENT CODE CRITERIA TO BE 
ANNEXED INTO THE CITY AND TO CHANGE THE ZONING DESIGNATION 
FROM YAMHILL COUNTY VLDR-1 TO CITY R-3

RECITALS:

1. On September 24, 2013, Springbrook Investments LLC submitted an application to annex one parcel 
(approximately 7.2 acres) located at 108 S. Springbrook Road, Yamhill County tax lot 3221-900, into 
the City of Newberg with a concurrent zone change from county VLDR-1 to city R-3, with a stream 
corridor overlay zone on the eastern part of the site and an airport inner horizontal surface overlay.

2. The Newberg Planning Commission heard the annexation request on December 12, 2013, took public 
testimony, and found that the request met the applicable Newberg Development Code criteria. The 
planning commission recommended approval of the annexation and concurrent zone change, and 
withdrawal of the parcel from the Newberg Rural Fire Protection District.

3. After proper notice, on January 21, 2014, the Newberg City Council held a hearing to consider the 
annexation request.

4. The city council finds that the applicable criteria have been met, and that approval of the annexation is 
in the best interests of the community. 

THE CITY OF NEWBERG ORDERS AS FOLLOWS:

1. The city council finds the annexation and concurrent zone change meet the Newberg Development 
Code criteria and adopts the findings attached hereto as Exhibit A and by this reference 
incorporated.

2. Annexation requires the city council to adopt an ordinance annexing the property, and requires 
approval at a public vote. If the annexation is approved through these procedures, then the city 
orders the following: 

A. The zoning of the property shown in Exhibit B and described in Exhibit C is changed to R-3 
(high density residential), with a stream corridor overlay zone and an airport inner horizontal 
surface overlay zone as shown in Exhibit D. Exhibits B, C and D are hereby adopted and by 
this reference incorporated. 

B. The following conditions will also apply: 
1. Connect existing house to sewer and water within three years or remove the house. 

City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 1

Page 183



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 2

2. Transportation: 
a. A left turn pocket at Brutscher/Fernwood will be required at time of 

development. 
b. The Fernwood Road frontage will need to be improved to city standards at 

the time of development, which could include additional paving, curb, gutter, 
planter strip, sidewalk, and utility undergrounding. 

c. Future access to the site will be limited to Fernwood Road. If the site is 
developed it should include two driveways, and the westerly driveway should 
be right-in/right-out only. 

� EFFECTIVE DATE of this order is the day after the adoption date, which is: January 22, 2014.
ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Newberg, Oregon, this 21st day of January, 2014.

_______________________________
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Recorder 

ATTEST by the Mayor this 23rd day of January, 2014. 

____________________
Bob Andrews, Mayor 

Exhibits:
Exhibit A: Findings 

 Exhibit B: Annexation map 
 Exhibit C: Legal description 
 Exhibit D: Zoning map 

Page 184



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 3

Exhibit A: Findings 

A. 15.250.020 Conditions for annexation. 
The following conditions must be met prior to or concurrent with city processing of any 
annexation request: 

A. The subject site must be located within the Newberg urban growth boundary or Newberg 
urban reserve areas. 

B. The subject site must be contiguous to the existing city limits. 

Finding: The subject site is within the Newberg urban growth boundary and is contiguous to the 
existing city limits on the east and west sides. The Fernwood Road right of way is within the city limits, 
so the south side of the site is also contiguous to the city limits. 

B. 15.250.030 Quasi-judicial annexation criteria. 
The following criteria shall apply to all annexation requests: 

A. The proposed use for the site complies with the Newberg comprehensive plan and 
with the designation on the Newberg comprehensive plan map. If a redesignation of 
the plan map is requested concurrent with annexation, the uses allowed under the 
proposed designation must comply with the Newberg comprehensive plan.

Finding: The Newberg comprehensive plan map designation for the site is HDR (high density 
residential), with a Stream Corridor overlay on the eastern edge of the site. The requested R-3 zoning 
matches the HDR comprehensive plan designation, and will also include a Stream Corridor overlay on 
the eastern edge of the site and an Airport Inner Horizontal Surface overlay. The applicant's concept 
development plan shows a multifamily housing development, which is an allowed use in the R-3 zone. 
The proposed use therefore complies with the Newberg Comprehensive Plan and the designation on the 
comprehensive plan map. 

B. An adequate level of urban services must be available, or made available, within 
three years’ time of annexation, except as noted in subsection (E) of this section. An 
adequate level of urban services shall be defined as: 

 1. Municipal wastewater and water service meeting the requirements 
enumerated in the Newberg comprehensive plan for provision of these services. 

 2. Roads with an adequate design capacity for the proposed use and projected 
future uses. Where construction of the road is not deemed necessary within the three-
year time period, the city shall note requirements such as dedication of right-of-way,
waiver of remonstrance against assessment for road improvement costs, or 
participation in other traffic improvement costs, for application at the appropriate level 
of the planning process. The city shall also consider public costs for improvement and 
the ability of the city to provide for those costs. 

Finding: There are public water, stormwater and sanitary sewer lines in the rights of way adjacent to the 
site, so the site has the ability to connect to city services within three years of annexation.  

a. Sanitary Sewer:  15 inch line in Springbrook, 12 inch force main line in Fernwood 

Page 185



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 4

b. Water: 12 inch lines in Springbrook and Fernwood 
c. Storm: 24 inch line in Fernwood 

The Public Works - Maintenance Superintendent has noted that any utility access from Springbrook 
Road will need to be completed prior to the bypass project reconstruction, otherwise it will be a several 
year "no cut" moratorium on the pavement. 

The applicant plans to remove the existing house on the site. The existing house will need to be either 
removed or be connected to sanitary sewer and water lines within three years 

The Springbrook Road frontage of the property will be improved by ODOT as part of the Newberg-
Dundee Bypass project (2014-2016). Springbrook will be widened and repaved to include a center turn 
lane, bike lanes, curbs, planter strips and sidewalks. ODOT will also install a traffic signal at the 
Springbrook Road/Fernwood Road intersection.

The Fernwood Road frontage will need to be improved to city standards at the time of development, 
which could include additional paving, curb, gutter, planter strip, sidewalk, and utility undergrounding. 
The traffic impact analysis was prepared by a professional engineer and analyzed the potential impact of 
a 120-unit apartment project on the Springbrook/Fernwood intersection, at two driveway location on 
Fernwood, and at the Fernwood/Brutscher intersection. Springbrook Road is a minor arterial and 
Fernwood Road is a major collector, so city staff indicated that access would need to be taken solely 
from Fernwood Road. The major finding of the TIA is that: 

The intersections in this study are currently functioning with levels of service that are within 
generally accepted standards during the peak hour. The development of the Apartments on 
Springbrook will not increase traffic to the point where the intersections studied will be reduced 
to unacceptable levels of service when complete.

Specifically, the TIA projected that the Springbrook/Fernwood intersection, the eastern site driveway, 
and the Brutscher/Fernwood intersection would have a level of service (LOS) of B in 2016. The western 
site driveway would have a LOS of A. The queue analysis indicated that the main (eastern) site 
driveway will be located outside of the westbound queue on Fernwood Road; the TIA recommended 
that the site be developed with two driveways, and that the westerly driveway be developed as a right-
in/right-out driveway. The TIA also performed a left turn warrant analysis and determined that the 
intersection of Fernwood Road and Brutscher Road meets the requirements for the installation of left 
turn pockets with or without the proposed apartment project. In order for the road to have adequate 
design capacity the left turn pocket at Fernwood and Brutscher needs to be in place at time of 
development. 

C. Findings documenting the availability of police, fire, parks, and school facilities and 
services shall be made to allow for conclusionary findings either for or against the 
proposed annexation. The adequacy of these services shall be considered in relation to 
annexation proposals. 

Finding: Police services are currently provided to the area by Yamhill County Sheriff’s Office.  Fire 
service is provided by Newberg Rural Fire District.  The proposed annexation will shift police and fire 
services to the city. Neither agency noted an inability to serve the property. Development of the site 
would ultimately increase the city tax base, which would help fund police and fire services. An increase 
in population will also increase the city's allocation of state revenue-sharing funds, which is part of the 

Page 186



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 5

city budget, and will help fund these services.

The Chehalem Park and Recreation District collects a fee when new residential units are developed 
(currently set at $1475.00 per unit in multifamily developments). This revenue is for the development of 
new parks, so future development will help fund future parks in the district.   

The Newberg School District receives state funding on a per pupil basis, so future population increases 
due to development should increase future funding. The school district also collects a construction 
excise tax on new development (currently set at $1.00 per square foot of new residential buildings). This 
construction excise tax revenue is for development of new schools, so new development will help fund 
new school construction within the district.    

Overall, adequate public facilities and services exist to support the proposed annexation.

D. The burden for providing the findings for subsections (A), (B) and (C) of this 
section is placed upon the applicant.

Finding: The applicant has provided findings for this section. 

E. The city council may annex properties where urban services are not and cannot 
practically be made available within the three-year time frame noted in subsection (B) 
of this section, but where annexation is needed to address a health hazard, to annex an 
island, to address wastewater or water connection issues for existing development, to 
address specific legal or contract issues, to annex property where the timing and 
provision of adequate services in relation to development is or will be addressed 
through legislatively adopted specific area plans or similar plans, or to address similar 
situations. In these cases, absent a specific legal or contractual constraint, the city
council shall apply an interim zone, such as a limited-use overlay, that would limit 
development of the property until such time as the services become available.

Finding: This criterion is not applicable to this application. 

C. 15.302.030(A) Zoning map amendment criteria. 
3. Amendment Criteria. The owner must demonstrate compliance with the following 

 criteria: 
a. The proposed change is consistent with and promotes the goals and policies of the Newberg 
comprehensive plan and this code;
b. Public facilities and services are or can be reasonably made available to support the uses 
allowed by the proposed change; 

Finding: As noted in an earlier finding, the proposed zoning change from County VLDR-1 to City R-3 
is consistent with and promotes the goals and policies of the development code and the comprehensive 
plan because it matched the HDR comprehensive plan designation of the site. Also as noted earlier, 
public facilities and services are available to support the uses allowed by the proposed change. 

c. Compliance with the State Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0060) for 
proposals that significantly affect transportation facilities. 
660-012-0060
Plan and Land Use Regulation Amendments

Page 187



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 6

(1) If an amendment to a functional plan, an acknowledged comprehensive plan, or a land use 
regulation (including a zoning map) would significantly affect an existing or planned transportation 
facility, then the local government must put in place measures as provided in section (2) of this rule, 
unless the amendment is allowed under section (3), (9) or (10) of this rule. A plan or land use 
regulation amendment significantly affects a transportation facility if it would: 
(a) Change the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation facility (exclusive of 
correction of map errors in an adopted plan);
(b) Change standards implementing a functional classification system; or
(c) Result in any of the effects listed in paragraphs (A) through (C) of this subsection based on 
projected conditions measured at the end of the planning period identified in the adopted TSP. As part 
of evaluating projected conditions, the amount of traffic projected to be generated within the area of 
the amendment may be reduced if the amendment includes an enforceable, ongoing requirement that 
would demonstrably limit traffic generation, including, but not limited to, transportation demand 
management. This reduction may diminish or completely eliminate the significant effect of the 
amendment.
(A) Types or levels of travel or access that are inconsistent with the functional classification of an 
existing or planned transportation facility;
(B) Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility such that it would not 
meet the performance standards identified in the TSP or comprehensive plan; or
(C) Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility that is otherwise 
projected to not meet the performance standards identified in the TSP or comprehensive plan.

Finding: The proposed annexation would change the city zoning map for the site to R-3. This matches 
the adopted and acknowledged city comprehensive plan map, which has a HDR (high density 
residential) designation for the site. The traffic impact analysis for the annexation was prepared by a 
professional engineer and analyzed the potential impact of a 120-unit apartment project. The study 
found that the intersections in this study are currently functioning with levels of service that are within 
generally accepted standards during the peak hour. The development of the apartments on Springbrook 
will not increase traffic to the point where the intersections studied will be reduced to unacceptable 
levels of service when complete.  

Specifically, the TIA projected that the Springbrook/Fernwood intersection, the eastern site driveway, 
and the Brutscher/Fernwood intersection would have a level of service (LOS) of B in 2016. The western 
site driveway would have a LOS of A. The proposed annexation will therefore not significantly affect an 
existing or planned transportation facility, and no major mitigation (such as a trip cap) is required to 
meet the Transportation Planning Rule. 

D. Coordination process:
15.250.090 Coordination. 
Annexation requests shall be coordinated with affected public and private agencies, including, but not 
limited to, Yamhill County, Chehalem Park and Recreation District, Newberg School District, 
Northwest Natural Gas, Portland General Electric, and, where appropriate, various state agencies. 
Coordination shall be made by referral of annexation request to these bodies sufficiently in advance of 
final city action to allow for reviews and recommendations to be incorporated into the city records. 
[Ord. 2745 § 1 (Exh. A), 7-18-11; Ord. 2451, 12-2-96. Code 2001 § 151.268.] 

Finding: The annexation request was forwarded to Yamhill County, Chehalem Park and Recreation 
District, Newberg School District, relevant utilities, DLCD, Oregon Dept. of Transportation, and 
Oregon Dept. of State Lands for their review and comment. All comments received as of the date of this 
report are included within this staff report and findings. 

Page 188



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 7

E. Conclusion: Based on the above-mentioned findings, the application meets criteria, goals and 
policies within the Newberg Comprehensive Plan and Development Code with the following 
conditions.

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: ANX-13-001

1. Connect existing house to sewer and water within three years or remove the house. 

2. Transportation:
a. A left turn pocket at Brutscher/Fernwood will be required at time of development. 
b. The Fernwood Road frontage will need to be improved to city standards at the time of 

development, which could include additional paving, curb, gutter, planter strip, sidewalk, 
and utility undergrounding. 

c. Future access to the site will be limited to Fernwood Road. If the site is developed it 
should include two driveways, and the westerly driveway should be right-in/right-out 
only.

Development notes: 

1. Any utility access from Springbrook Road will need to be completed prior to the bypass project 
reconstruction, otherwise it will be a several year "no cut" moratorium on the pavement.  

2. Wetland delineation: The Department of State Lands (DSL) has commented that there is a 
wetland/waterway on the property, and that a state permit is required for 50 cubic yards or more 
of removal/fill in wetlands. They noted that the wetland extent may be greater than what is 
mapped on the National Wetland Inventory. A wetland delineation is needed to determine 
precise wetland boundaries, and should be submitted to DSL for review and approval.  

Page 189



Exhibit B: Annexation Map 

City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 8

Page 190



Exhibit C: Legal Description 

City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 9

Page 191



Exhibit D: Zoning Map 

City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 10

Page 192



ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768

AN ORDINANCE DECLARING PROPERTY LOCATED AT 108 S.
SPRINGBROOK ROAD, YAMHILL COUNTY TAX LOT 3221-900, BE 
ANNEXED INTO THE CITY OF NEWBERG AND WITHDRAWN FROM THE 
NEWBERG RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT SUBJECT TO A 
PUBLIC VOTE, AND AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE CITY 
RECORDER TO CERTIFY TO THE YAMHILL COUNTY CLERK A 
BALLOT TITLE FOR THE MEASURE TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE 
ELECTORATE OF THE CITY OF NEWBERG FOR THEIR APPROVAL OF 
AN ANNEXATION FOR THIS SAME PROPERTY

RECITALS:

1. On September 24, 2013, Springbrook Investments LLC submitted an application for annexation of 
property located at 108 S. Springbrook Road, Yamhill County tax lot 3221-900. 

2. After proper notice, on January 21, 2014, the city council held a public hearing on the item: 
accurately stated objections to jurisdiction, bias, and ex-parte contact; considered public testimony; 
examined the record; heard the presentation from staff; examined and discussed the appropriate 
criteria to judge the project (as listed in the staff report); considered all relevant information 
regarding the item; and deliberated. 

3. On January 21, 2014, the city council adopted Order No. 2014-0033, which affirmed the annexation 
met the applicable Newberg Development Code criteria. 

4. The City of Newberg Charter requires territory may be annexed into the City of Newberg only upon 
approval by a majority vote among the electorate of the city. 

THE CITY OF NEWBERG ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

1. The question of annexing the property shown in Exhibit A and described in Exhibit B shall be 
submitted to the electorate of the city at the May 20, 2014, general election. Exhibits A and B are 
hereby adopted and by this reference incorporated. 

2. The city council directs all costs associated with placing the item on the ballot be paid for by the 
applicant.  This includes but is not limited to noticing, signage, advertising, and costs assessed by the 
Yamhill County Clerk to place the item on the ballot.   

3. The city recorder is hereby authorized and directed to certify to the Yamhill County Clerk the ballot 
title for the annexation measure to be placed before the voters.  Further, the city recorder is directed 
to give all necessary notices of the ballot title and do all other necessary acts and deeds which may 
be required to place the matter before the voters of the City of Newberg at said election. 

City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 11

4. The city attorney is directed to have prepared and review the explanatory statement, which shall be 

Page 193



City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 12

submitted to the Yamhill County Clerk with the ballot title.  Such explanatory statement shall be 
filed with the city recorder and the city recorder is further directed to certify this explanatory 
statement to the Yamhill County Clerk. 

5. The city recorder is authorized to do all other necessary acts and deeds which may be required to 
conduct the election concerning this measure. 

6. Should this annexation request be approved by a majority of the electorate of the City of Newberg at 
the identified election date, the property shown in Exhibit A and described in Exhibit B, shall be 
annexed into the city and withdrawn from the Newberg Rural Fire Protection District, and the 
following events will occur: 

A. The City of Newberg land use inventory data and GIS data, including the comprehensive 
plan map and zoning map, will be updated to reflect the new addition. 

B. The Recorder of the City of Newberg is hereby authorized and directed to make and submit 
to the Secretary of State, the Department of Revenue, the Yamhill County Elections Officer, 
and the Assessor of Yamhill County a certified copy of this ordinance. 

� EFFECTIVE DATE of this ordinance is 30 days after the adoption date, which is: February 21, 2014.
ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Newberg, Oregon, this 21st day of  January, 2014, by the 
following votes: AYE:  NAY:  ABSENT:  ABSTAIN:

_______________________________
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Recorder 

ATTEST by the Mayor this 23rd day of January, 2014. 

____________________
Bob Andrews, Mayor 

Exhibits:
 Exhibit A: Annexation Map 
 Exhibit B: Legal Description 

Page 194



Exhibit A: Annexation Map 

City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 13

Page 195



Exhibit B: Legal Description 

City of Newberg:  ORDER NO. 2014-0033 & ORDINANCE NO. 2014-2768 PAGE 14

Page 196


	Agenda
	Order No. 2014-0033 and Ordinance No. 2014-2768 - Annexation



